SOUTHWEST POWER POOL
FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING
January 13, 2022
Teleconference

MINUTES
AGENDA ITEM 1 – ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS
SPP Chair Susan Certoma called the meeting to order at 8:00 a.m. The following members were
in attendance:
Susan Certoma
SPP Director
Larry Altenbaumer
SPP Director
Sandra Bennett
AEP
Brad Cochran
OG&E
Mike Wise
Golden Spread Electric Coop
Al Tamimi
Sunflower
Matt Pawlowski
NextEra
Jason Fortik (proxy for Emily Koenig)
Lincoln Electric System
Others in attendance:
See attached meeting register
A quorum was present. Minutes from the October 14, 2021 and December 6, 2021 meetings
were reviewed. Al Tamimi made a motion to accept the minutes. The motion was seconded by
Matt Pawlowski and approved by unanimous voice vote with one abstention (Jason Fortik).

CORPORATE LIABILITY INSURANCE STEWARDSHIP REPORT
Members of Stephens Insurance, LLC, led by Stan Payne, joined the meeting to discuss their
stewardship report covering SPP’s corporate liability insurance programs. These programs
include coverage for the following risks: property & casualty, professional liability, cyber, and
director and officer liability. The report highlighted that insurance underwriters are continuing
to seek premium increases and coverage reductions across most product lines. Renewal terms
for SPP’s programs will likely seeing expansion of premiums despite efforts to market the
programs beyond incumbent insurers.
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ACTUARY ASSUMPTIONS
SPP staff discussed its recommendations for the four primary assumptions required for pension
accounting and valuation: i) discount rate – staff recommended a discount rate of 4.00% in
accordance with SPP’s process for determining the discount rate assumption, ii) investment rate
of return – staff recommends remaining at 7.00% long-term rate of return, iii) rate of
compensation change – staff recommends remaining at 4.00%, and iv) staff recommended
utilizing the IRS-2022 mortality tables in accordance with Finance Committee directives from
December 2015.
Mike Wise made a motion to accept the assumptions presented by staff. The motion was
seconded by Larry Altenbaumer and approved by unanimous voice vote.

CREDIT PRACTICES WORKING GROUP – SURETY BONDS
The credit practices working group presented a recommendation to allow the use of surety
bonds as a form of financial security for transactions under the SPP tariff. The proposed
structure included many “safety” measures to, as much as possible, mitigate risk of non-payment
if the surety was called upon. These measures include, i) following the existing approved letter
of credit format including the immediate payment language, ii) limiting the individual surety
bond to no more than $10 million, and iii) limiting the amount of sureties a single insurer could
provide to $50 million. Despite these precaustions, SPP staff is not able to support the addition
of surety bonds. Reasons for this include, i) the immaturity of surety bonds to be used in this
manner, ii) lack of history of surety companies performing in this manner when the surety bond
is called, and iii) the addition of surety bonds as financial security adds new unknowns to the
market without providing any benefit to the market.
The committee did not take action on the recommendation. The committee requested the
CPWG perform additional research to attempt to mitigate the concerns of SPP staff.
The meeting was adjourned at 11:00am.

Respectfully Submitted,

Tom Dunn
Secretary
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Meeting Roster
Larry
Matthew
Al
Bernie
Joe
Heather
Pat
James
Jim
Meghan
Jeff
Bradley
Barbara
Sandra
mark
Jason
Mark
Tom
Stan
Tom
Matt
Lanny
Denise
Susan
SCOTT
Jared
Kaye
Jason
Jason
Michael
Robert
Kevin
Farzad
Caleb
Joshua

Altenbaumer
Jones
Tamimi
Liu
Ghormley
Starnes
Hayes
Goss
Jacoby (AEP)
Carnahan
Parkison
Cochran
Sugg
Bennett
breese
Mazigian
Alvarez
Dunn
Payne
Hestermann
Pawlowski
Nickell
Buffington
Certoma
SMITH
Barker
McCarty
Chaplin
Fortik
Wise
Pick
McBride
Khalili
Head
Phillips

SPP Director
Stephens Insurance
Sunflower Electric
Xcel Energy
SPP
MJMEUC
Stephens Insurance
AEP
Nebraska Public Power District
CUS
OG&E
SPP
AEP
Xcel Energy
Basin Electric Power Cooperative
Stephens Insurance
SPP
Stephens
Sunflower Electric Power Corporation
NextEra Energy Resources, LLC
Southwest Power Pool
Evergy Companies
SPP Director
SPP
SPP
SPP
OCC
Lincoln Electric System
Golden Spread Electric Cooperative, Inc.
NPPD
Stephens Insurance
OCC
NTEC
SPP
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SOUTHWEST POWER POOL, INC.
FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING
January 13, 2022
Video Conference

AGENDA
8:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m.
Administrative Items................................................................................................................... Susan Certoma
o

Roll call

o

Minutes (**ACTION**)

Corporate Liability Insurance Report (60 minutes) ................................................ Stephens Insurance
Actuary Assumptions (**ACTION**) (30 minutes) .................................................................. Tom Dunn
Credit Practices Working Group (**ACTION**) (30 minutes) ........................................... Scott Smith
Written Reports ...........................................................................................................................................................
o

Financial Results (YTD November 2021)

Future Meetings .................................................................................................................................... Tom Dunn
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SOUTHWEST POWER POOL
FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING
October 14, 2021
Teleconference

MINUTES
AGENDA ITEM 1 – ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS
SPP Chair Susan Certoma called the meeting to order at 8:00 a.m. The following members were
in attendance:
Susan Certoma
SPP Director
Julian Brix
SPP Director
Darcy Ortiz
SPP Director
Sandra Bennett
AEP
Sarah Stafford
OG&E
Mike Wise
Golden Spread Electric Coop
Al Tamimi
Sunflower
Matt Pawlowski
NextEra
Emily Koenig
Lincoln Electric System
Others in attendance:
See attached meeting register
A quorum was present. Minutes from the September 22, 2021 meeting were reviewed. Sandra
Bennett made a motion to accept the minutes. The motion was seconded by Matt Pawlowski
and approved by unanimous voice vote.

BKD PRE-AUDIT DISCUSSION
Chad Moore of BKD, LLC presented the 2021 financial audit plan. He indicated the audit team
will perform interim work remotely with final work possibly performed onsite. Areas of focus
would be winter storm URI and the WEIS contract. Committee members were advised to share
any areas they wanted the auditor to focus on with the Committee chair.

2021 OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET
SPP staff presented highlights from the 2022 budget. The budgeted net revenue requirement is
increasing by $8.8 million over the 2021 forecasted net revenue requirement as a result of
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additional investment and expenses in engagements of consultants, labor expenses, technology
maintenance expenditures, and travel and meeting expenses. Several questions were raised
regarding the assumptions used to estimate both labor expenses and the volume of consultant
expenditures, particularly in light of the inflation evident currently in the national job market,
SPP’s increasing level of staff turnover, and the volume of work SPP is expected to complete in
2022.
The Committee had a lengthy discussion on capital expenditure management and authority,
though ultimately did not change the existing practices and processes. A review of the capital
expenditure project portfolio was completed with a warning that several strategic items were
not included in the budget (West expansion, Order 2222) but are expected to require budget
dollars in 2022 and others were estimated in the budget (SCRIPT and HITT M1 Congestion
Hedging) but the estimates were not based on full definition of the work and requirements.
Sandra Bennett made a motion to accept the budget as submitted. The motion was seconded
by Emily Koenig and approved by unanimous voice vote.

$80 MILLION CAPITAL EXPENDITURE FUNDING FACILITY EXTENSION
SPP staff presented a recommendation to extend the existing capital expenditure funding facility
which expires in 2023 to 2027.
Julian Brix made a motion to approve the recommendation and forward to the SPP Board of
Directors. The motion was seconded by Mike Wise and approved by unanimous voice vote.

CREDIT PRACTICES WORKING GROUP
The credit practices working group presented a recommendation modifying a recommendation
previously approved by the Finance Committee on August 5, 2021 related to virtual reference
price calculations for the first quarter of 2022. The prior recommendation was specific to
seeking a waiver of certain tariff provisions from the FERC; the modification was to allow staff to
seek a waiver or any other regulatory filing (most likely a 205 filing) to achieve the desired
change to virtual reference price calculations for the first quarter of 2022.
Matt Pawlowski made a motion to accept the modification as submitted and forward to the SPP
Board of Directors. The motion was seconded by Sandra Bennett and approved by unanimous
voice vote.

EXECUTIVE SESSION
In executive session the Committee reviewed a proposed budget to perform resource adequacy
services under contract for certain utilities.
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The Committee approved the budget as submitted unanimously with one abstention.
Respectfully Submitted,

Tom Dunn
Secretary
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Meeting Roster
Emily
Joe
Brad
Denise
Jim
mark
Nicole
Conner
Sandra
SCOTT
Keith
Matt
Jason
Zeynep
Jason
Phil
Traci
Dianne
Graham
Chad
Cynthia
Robert
Amy
Will
Heather
Michael
Sarah
Lanny
Jeff
Julian
Darcy
Bernie
Susan
Al
Larry
Caleb
Peyton
Sheri
Tom
Tom
Barbara
Farzad
Tom
Heather
Jared

Koenig
Ghormley
Cochran
Buffington
Jacoby (AEP)
breese
Wagner
Sweet
Bennett
SMITH
Collins (MMU)
Pawlowski
Mazigian
Vural
Chaplin
McCraw
Bender
Branch
Edwards
Moore
Burns
Pick
Cutler
Vestal
Knies
Wise
Stafford
Nickell
Parkison
Brix
Ortiz
Liu
Certoma
Tamimi
Altenbaumer
Head
Greenwald
Dunn
Dornish
Dunn
Sugg
Khalili
Hestermann
Starnes
Barker

LES
SPP
OG&E
Evergy Companies
AEP
Xcel Energy
SPP
City Utilities
AEP
SPP
Southwest Power Pool
NextEra
Basin Electric
SPP
OCC
SPP
NPPD
Southwest Power Pool
SPP Director
BKD LLP
BKD, LLP
NPPD
WAPA
SPP_MMU
Altus Power, LLC
Golden Spread Electric Cooperative, Inc.
OG&E
Southwest Power Pool
CUS
SPP Director
SPP Director
Xcel Energy
SPP Director
Sunflower Electric Power Corp.
SPP Director
Northeast Texas Electric Cooperative, Inc
SPP
SPP
NPPD
SPP
SPP
OCC
Sunflower Electric Power Corp.
MJMEUC
SPP
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SOUTHWEST POWER POOL
FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING
December 6, 2021
Email Vote

MINUTES

$28 MILLION PRIVATE PLACEMENT TERMS
Committee members were presented with the final terms and conditions of the $28 million
private debt placement SPP was issuing with a funding date of December 15, 2021. Committee
members were asked to formally state their vote on approving those terms. Seven committee
members responded with “Yea” votes, zero committee members responded with “Nay” votes,
and zero committee members responded with votes to abstain. Voting records are attached.
Respectfully Submitted,

Tom Dunn
Secretary
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SOUTHWEST POWER POOL

2021 STEWARDSHIP & RENEWAL PLANNING
November 30, 2021

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC
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Our Process
Assessment & Audit
Conduct audit based on
insurance policy coverage

Stewardship

Program Design
Design program to optimize
savings and value

Report findings to
Clients annually

Monitoring

Strategic Marketing

Review accruals and loss
allocation; conduct
premium audit
reconciliation

Create market conceptual,
submit to strategic,
compare policies

Program Implementation
Execute policy forms & endorsements;
establish timelines with carrier partners
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The contents of this presentation may not be used for any other purpose without the prior written consent of Stephens Inc. This foregoing material has been presented solely for informative purposes as of its stated
date and is not a solicitation, or an offer, to buy or sell any security. It does not purport to be a complete description of the products, securities, markets or developments referred to in the material. Information
included in the presentation was obtained from sources considered to be reliable, but has not been independently verified and is not guaranteed to be accurate or complete. All expressions of opinion apply on the
date of the presentation. No subsequent publication or distribution of this presentation shall mean or imply that any such information or opinion is accurate or remains current at any time after the stated date of the
presentation. You will not be advised of any changes in any such information or opinion. Stephens Inc., its employees, officers, directors and/or affiliates may from time to time have a long or short position in the
securities mentioned and may sell or buy such securities. Stephens does not provide legal, tax or accounting advice; please consult your legal or tax professional. The individuals principally responsible for preparation
of this presentation have received compensation that is based upon, among other factors, Stephens Inc.’s investment banking revenues. Additional information available upon request. ©Stephens Inc. 2021
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1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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Executive Summary
Stephens Insurance would like to thank Southwest Power Pool for
the opportunity to be your Property & Casualty Insurance and
Risk Management partner.

Annual Stewardship Report
As part of our overall process we present our annual Stewardship Report which will
cover in detail the following subjects:
• Stephens Contacts
• Insurance Market Review
• Activities & Accomplishments
• Insurance Program Review
• Claim Summaries
• Benchmarks
• Discussion Items & Renewal Strategy
• Services Checklist

Wrap Up
We invite your questions and comments throughout this presentation and
appreciate your feedback as to how we can potentially improve the services and
resources shared with your company. Again thank you for your commitment to
Stephens and our team.
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2. TEAM CONTACTS
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Southwest Power Pool Account Team
Executive Team
Barbara Sugg, CEO
Internal Risk Management Team
Tom Dunn & Scott Smith
Stephens Inc.

Account Executive

Executive

Enterprise Resources

Stan Payne, SEVP

Market Relationships

Brokerage

Risk Management

Claims

Loss Control

Senior Account Manager

Account Executive

Account Executive

Account Executive

Matt Jones, VP

Jim Goss, SVP

Denver Fletcher, SVP

David Nigus, SVP

Executive Risk

Acct. Manager/Special Projects

Claims Counsel

Account Executive

Kevin McBride, SVP

Kevin Edwards, VP

Courtney McLarty, SVP

Preston Keller, VP

Broking Executive

Legal

Claims Management

Bob Watkins, SVP

Patrick McAlpine, SVP

Heba Brown, AVP

Broking Executive

Claims Coordinator

Prentice McIntosh, VP

Tag Grace

Customer Service

Property Claims Specialist

Kristi Tippy

Joseph Brown
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Account Team
Team Leader & Executive Contact / Risk Management
Stan Payne

(Direct) 501.377.2616
(Mobile) 501.680.2891
stan.payne@stephens.com

Jim Goss

(Direct) 501.377.2625
(Mobile) 501.690.6900
jim.goss@stephens.com

Kevin Edwards

(Direct) 501.377.8323
(Mobile) 501.517.2241
kevin.edwards@stephens.com

Brokerage Services & Account Manager
Robert Watkins

(Direct) 501.377.8201
(Mobile) 501.722.2428
bob.watkins@stephens.com

Prentice McIntosh

(Direct) 501.377.8437
(Mobile) 501.413.6003
prentice.mcintosh@Stephens.com

Account Manager & Customer Service
Matt Jones

(Direct) 501.377.3442
(Mobile) 501.515.8664

matt.jones@Stephens.com

Kristi Tippy
(Direct) 501.377.8456
Kristi.tippy@stephens.com

Surety & Executive Risk
Elizabeth Browning

(Direct) 501.377.8442
(Mobile) 501.492.1055
Elizabeth.browning@stephens.com

Kevin McBride

(Direct) 214.258.2745
(Mobile) 972.740.8038
kevin.mcbride@stephens.com
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Account Team
Claims Management
Denver Fletcher

(Direct) 501.377.3431
(Mobile) 501.352.0116
denver.fletcher@stephens.com

Joey Brown

(Direct) 501.377.2352
(Mobile) 501.339.5137
joey.brown@stephens.com

Courtney McLarty

(Direct) 501.377.8378
(Mobile) 501.519.4430
courtney.mclarty@stephens.com

Heba Brown

(Direct) 501.377.8326
(Mobile) 501.940.4322
heba.brown@stephens.com

Tag Grace

(Direct) 501.377.2067
(Mobile) 501.773-5843
tag.grace@stephens.com

Legal
Patrick McAlpine

(Direct) 501.377.8141
(Mobile) 501.650.1807
patrick.mcalpine@stephens.com

Loss Control
David Nigus

(Direct) 501.377.8245
(Mobile) 501.283.4347
david.nigus@stephens.com

Preston Keller

(Direct) 501.377.2302
(Mobile) 501.269.2478
preston.keller@stephens.com

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC

25 of 171

9

3. INSURANCE MARKET REVIEW
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Executive Summary
• Q2 of 2021 was the 15th consecutive quarter of increased premiums, with an average increase of 8.3%
across all-sized accounts. Even insureds with a lower risk profile are facing more underwriter scrutiny
and higher rates and retentions.
• We encourage clients to start the renewal process early and explore different limit and retention
strategies. Your Stephens Insurance team is here to guide you through the risk management process.

High-Level Market Update

Rate Trends

• After three years of record-breaking large losses coupled
with a prolonged period of soft pricing, the insurance
market entered a corrective state.

• Industry rates were at their peak in Q3 of 2020, and are
trending towards equilibrium in Q3 of 2021.

• Improved market conditions are on the horizon. Rate
increases are decelerating and there are signs of
equilibrium for all lines except Cyber. Insurers are looking
to regain share of classes of business they deem
profitable. A focus on growth is emerging.
• Insurers will have to rely more on underwriting
profitability, placing greater pressure on pricing,
capacity deployment, and attachment points.
• See our “Overall Market Themes” and our “Stephens
Market Scorecard” on following pages for more detailed
market commentary.

Average Quarterly Rate Trends
% Change from Prior Year

8.7%

Q1-20

10.1%

Q2-20

11.3%

Q3-20

10.2%

Q4-20

10%

Q1-21

8.3%

Q2-21

Source: Council of Insurance Agents & Brokers (CIAB), AmWINS, Aon, USI, Market Scout
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Stephens Market Scorecard
Umbrella /
Excess

• Significant rate increases are a result of the loss activity in the underlying general
liability/auto.
• Continue to see more carriers request higher attachment points for certain industry
sectors.
• “Social inflation” continues to impact court adjudication/settlement amounts, which
are also driving rate increases.
• Expect a potential need for increased primary limits at renewal.
• Prices for Umbrella continued to increase in Q2 2021, with respondents from the
Council of Insurance Agents & Brokers reporting an average increase of 17.4%, down
from 19.7% in Q1 2021.

General
Liability

•

Most industry sectors have seen considerable rate increases over the past few years.

•

Jury awards have been increasing, driving a slight uptick in claims’ cost in recent
quarters.

•

Many carriers are exiting the GL marketplace for the Habitational, Hospitality and Retail
industries.

•

Social Inflation and excess pricing increases are driving the need for increased CGL
limits.

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC
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Stephens Market Scorecard
Workers’
Compensation

Auto

•

Workers’ Compensation remains competitive, single-digit rate increases, if any, are
expected for the near future.

•

There have been consecutive years of profitability for this class.

•

Market capacity and profitability have led to rate decreases or flat renewal.

•

Many COVID-19 related Workers Compensation claims have not been deemed
compensable under state laws.

•

Auto has seen rate increases for over 31 straight quarters; current average is
roughly 7% - 12%.

•

Claim frequency and severity are at all-time highs. Claim costs are being driven by
increased medical costs, attorney involvement, distracted driving (i.e. cell phone
usage), and a shortage of experienced commercial drivers.

•

Seeing carriers request higher attachment points for large fleets and the Transportation
industry.

•

Rate pressure is expected to continue through the second half of 2021.

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC
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Stephens Market Scorecard
Property &
Builders Risk

Marine

•

Last few years have experienced record catastrophe losses on the back of various
named storms, wildfires and flooding. As a result, combined ratios for the industry have
been in excess of 110%.

•

Rate increases have been more common in the builders’ risk sector, especially with the
current price and demand for lumber.

•

Rates have seen continuous acceleration of 2% each month since early 2019, and
markets remain interested in sustaining the higher rates achieved.

•

Capacity is available, but underwriters are being very conservative.

•

Renewals have seen double-digit % rate and retention increases, specifically for
catastrophe coverages, but there are some sectors that are seeing single-digit
increases, which is a promising sign.

•

Not yet a hard market, but has been "firming" over the last few years.

•

3%-10% increases can be expected depending on loss history and vessel use, condition,
value, etc.

•

Protection and indemnity insurers are under continued pressure for increased premiums
due to high profile losses and shrinking capacity/ marketplace.

•

Carriers are running wildfire scores on most risks in brush zones and adjusting their rates,
or declining risks altogether. Some carriers are instituting higher wildfire deductibles if
needed.
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Stephens Market Scorecard
Management
Liability

•

Public company D&O market is finally starting to level off, but is still considered “hard”.

•

Premium increases are still common, but the level of increase is much less than what we have
seen over the past few years. Excess pricing has also calmed down after significant Rate on
Line adjustments taken previously.

•

Underwriters continue to look at pulling back on coverage grants added during the soft
market.

•

Employment practices (EPL) remains difficult as concerns around Covid issues linger.

•

Excess fee litigation remains the top concern for Fiduciary Liability underwriters.

•

Underwriters have heightened concerns surrounding bankruptcies and/or COVID-related
impacts to insureds. Expect a more extensive underwriting & application process

•

Increasing claims (in both frequency and severity) – particularly with ransomware – are driving
a shift in the previously soft market.

•

The Solar Winds, Microsoft Exchange, CNA and JBS breaches sent a chill through the market,
causing significant firming in premiums and heightened diligence in underwriting.

•

Carriers are pushing rate increases on all renewals with higher retentions.

•

Carriers are beginning to restrict limits, with most only willing to offer $5 million.

•

Restricted capacity for ransomware coupled with co-insurance for ransomware claims is
becoming common.

(D&O/ EPL/ Fiduciary)

Cyber
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P&C Market Update: Primary & Excess Casualty
Primary Market Trends
• Q2 2021 was the 15th consecutive quarter of increased
premiums
• Property rates were up an average of 9%; however, in wildfire
areas of California and wind zones of Florida, rates were up over
20%
• Underwriting tightened significantly for troubled lines like Cyber
and Umbrella

Umbrella Market
•

Survey results supported this claim with 73% of respondents
noting a decrease in Umbrella capacity

•

Underwriters capacity has significantly decreased across the
board

•

There was also an uptick in Umbrella claims, with 29% of
respondents reporting an increase in Umbrella claims in Q2
2021, compared to 18% in Q1
Survey results from the Council of Insurance Agents & Brokers
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P&C Market Update: Property
In the News

Earthquake

• In May, a Pennsylvania state judge went against the
majority of COVID-19 insurance rulings when she
ruled that Erie Insurance Exchange must cover Grant
Street Tavern’s loss of use of its property during the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Court held that the bar
didn’t need to have physical damage to have
suffered a direct physical loss or damage to
property.

• The earthquake market is also deteriorating particularly
for the Pacific Northwest and parts of Zone A (San
Francisco and North Bay areas).

• The same judge ruled in March that Valley Forge
Insurance Co. and parent company CNA owed an
area dental practice for losses that occurred
because of pandemic-related business closures,
holding that “the most reasonable definition of ‘loss’
is one that focuses on the act of losing possession
and/or deprivation of property instead of one that
encompasses various forms of damage to property.”
• Federal Court sides against Zurich American
Insurance Company in COVID-19 Business
Interruption Case. Plaintiffs argue that they lost their
real property when the state governments ordered
that the properties could no longer be used for their
intended purpose – as dine-in restaurants.” The
judge ruled “The policy’s language is susceptible to
this interpretation.”

High Hazard Flood
• High hazard flood resisted the competitive market
trend seen in other lines in recent years. Floods can
and do happen anywhere and in any season which
makes them much less predictable and therefore not
easily modeled and priced.
• Many underwriters have exited the Harris county,
(which includes Houston, Texas) market as a result of
the recent flood losses. Underwriters who are willing to
write flood typically buy more reinsurance and will likely
be impacted by changes in the reinsurance market.

CAT
• CAT wind/hail exposed properties are seeing double
digit rate increases.
• With good loss records, property accounts with no CAT
exposure have seen relatively small rate increases.
Source: Council of Insurance Agents & Brokers (CIAB), Fitch, Swiss Re, Bestwire by Frank Klimko
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London & European Market Update
Insight from Lloyd’s Partner Brokers
•

Lloyd’s remains well capitalized to meet it’s COVID-19 obligations.

•

Lloyd’s syndicate growth during the pandemic was only 2.8% despite
having a 20% market share of the surplus lines business due to an ongoing
strategic business review.

•

Lloyd’s aims to generate $1B of market-wide cost savings through
modernization

•

One benefit to Lloyd’s due to the COVID-19 pandemic is the accelerated
growth of electronic placement in London.

Capacity
•

Capacity is increasing across the board in 2021. A vast majority of Lloyd’s
syndicates have secured approval for premium growth – with an average
of 10% taking Lloyd’s capacity up to $48B in 2021.

•

Almost all London and European Company markets have signaled their
intention to grow.

•

The lion’s share of this increased appetite will be deployed in the open
market ‘short-tail’ space with US property risks being one of the main
benefactors. Additionally, various new start-ups have emerged for 2021 including five within Lloyd's - complementing those that ramped up
Property capacity in 2020.
Source: Ed Broking
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London & European Market Update continued
New and startup capacity of most interest from a property perspective:
Convex

• With $3.2B of capital raised by the Convex Group, Convex is now one of the important
markets that can offer key capacity. Stephen Catlin’s new venture announced an
additional $1.5B capital injection in Q42020 adding to its initial $1.7B foundation.

Fidelis

• Provides large capacity for a wide range of occupancies from real estate portfolios,
municipalities, infrastructure, schools, commercial and manufacturing accounts. Also
‘Classof2020’, Richard Brindle’s Fidelis, has gathered great pace following Berkshire
Hathaway’s bolstering of their capital late last year. They are now able to offer very
significant capacity, up to $75M per risk on a shared and layered basis.

Inigo

• Inigo Ltd., the new London insurance group that has raised $800M in start-up capital
from a group of blue chip global investors, announced that it received approval from
the Corporation of Lloyd’s to start underwriting from Jan.1,2021. Founded by Richard
Watson, ex-CUO at Hiscox, and including George Stratts, ex-CEO of Lexington; the
Property team will be led by Chris Hill (currently Faraday). With $800M capacity in
2021, ‘big ticket’ Property is listed as one of their primary targets.
Source: Ed Broking
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London & European Market Update continued
New and startup capacity of most interest from a property perspective:
BritKi

• Brit and Google Cloud collaborate to launch Ki, the first algorithmically-driven Lloyd’
soft London syndicate, providing capacity behind Brit as a lead or follow market, as
well as certain select alternative Lloyd's lead markets. It received approval from the
Corporation of Lloyd’s and started underwriting from January 1, 2021.

Alcor

• As part of the Beat family, Alcor can offer Standards & Poor A+ rated Lloyd’s
underwriting capacity for Direct & Facultative (D&F) placements, providing coverage
across a broad range of industries. With up to $10M in capacity, Alcor’s main focus is to
support clients with leading Excess of Loss (XOL) capacity commitments.

PartnerRe

• Not exactly a startup but they are targeting 70%+ growth in their Property book for
2021. Mostly excess of loss but will consider quota share where the client takes a
significant ($5M+) retention. They target accounts with a TIV of $500M or larger.

The net effect of startups is a greater number of market options
and more European capacity available than ever before.
Source: Ed Broking
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State of the Market
Renewal Pricing Trends

Professional Lines Renewals, Rolling Quarterly

The D&O market
for both public and
private companies
is tighter since the
mid-1980’s.
Very Few Markets
willing to be part of the
first $20M of coverage.

Public

Private

Financial Institutions

D&O liability has experienced some degree
of rate flattening, this could abruptly
change as activity surrounding mergers
and acquisitions and special purpose
acquisition companies increase. The postpandemic reopening of the judicial system
may also become a potential driver of D&O
claims.

In general, private company pricing is flat
to up single digits. Insurers continue to pay
claims for which they never intended to
cover. They are reviewing their book
performance closely and charging
additional rate where they deem
necessary.

In general, the Financial Institution market is
experiencing flat to single digit increases,
though actual rates depend heavily on the
sector. Asset managers for real estate and
oil & gas are still considered desirable
classes though underwriters are scrutinizing
the energy industry. The middle market
bank space is generally flat to up single
digits. The smaller community bank space is
experiencing low double digit increases
depending on the bank and the insurer due
to poor claims activity across the book.
Larger regional banks are also looking at
low double digit increases.

For the D&O market as a whole, we’re
currently seeing renewals
between 9% and 12% — higher for
accounts with losses or greater
risk exposures.

Source: AmWINS, CIAB, CRC
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Impact on Insurers – What Lies Ahead
The Risks Have Changed
• D&O underwriting has
always been more art
than science, but the
principle exposure for
public companies could
generally be viewed as
violations of the securities
laws. But as A.M. Best
notes here, the loss drivers
have multiplied.
• In the face of uncertain
causes of loss, underwriters
are less likely to extend
coverage and offer limits.
And this is on top of the
need to increase
premiums to restore their
books to profitability.

U.S. Directors & Officers Liability:
Expanding Social, Litigation and Regulatory Risk
Exposure

Impact on D&O Market

Social Inflation

The term generally refers to the rising costs of liability
insurance claims resulting from societal trends and view
such as increased litigation, broader interpretations of
liability contracts, more plaintiff-friendly juries and
negative public attitudes toward larger businesses and
corporations.

Securities Class
Action Lawsuits

Settlement amounts, on average, have increased
significantly. Defense costs and attorney fees overall
have spiked during the past several years.

Cannabis

The number of D&O claims related to companies
operating in the cannabis industry is growing.

Cyber Security
Risk / Data
Breaches

New data protection laws have created a considerable
challenge, particularly for companies reliant on personal
data for business. New laws include the California
Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA) and, globally, the EU’s
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).
Source: AM Best

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC

38 of 171

22

Market Trends
Fiduciary Liability
•

Potential reductions in benefits to reduce costs for the plan in the face of
declining revenues and earnings could increase claim activities. Reductions in
the values of traditional defined benefit pension plans could lead to
underfunding issues.

•

Decline in value of 401(k) plans could lead to claims alleging lack of diversity
of investment options from participants nearing retirement.

•

In situations where a plan sponsor becomes insolvent, fiduciaries can be
exposed to claims brought by bankruptcy trustees or others for failing to
maintain adequate cash to pay unemployment premiums, payroll taxes, and
other legally mandated amounts.

Employment Practices Liability
• Wrongful termination/discrimination claims, especially when not all employees
were let go or re-hired. The incentive to file EPL claims may increase when
employees are laid off into a difficult labor market with double digit
unemployment and fewer opportunities for future employment.
• Failure to provide a safe work environment.
• Wage & hour claims/failure to pay overtime-non-exempt employees may have
claims which are hard to controvert during a work from home period.
• Deprivation of career advancement/failure to promote.
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Market Trends
Cyber Liability
• Increased number of potential access points due to remote
working, may make it easier for a hacker to gain access to
systems. Some carriers are requiring MFA (Multi-Factor
Authentication be in place in order to consider quoting.)
• Increased load on IT networks can increase the risk of not
detecting a bad actor.
• Risk of relaxed policies, or failure to ensure all employees are
effectively patching and updating home software.
• Despite the highly public nature of ransomware and recent
attacks, Cyber Reports found that only 31% of organizations
report having adequate business resilience measures in place.
• A constant reminder of the prevalence of cyber risk is the
Ransomware challenge, which continues to impact
organizations across the globe. The frequency of ransomware
events increased by nearly 500% over the last two years and
costs have skyrocketed with individual publicly disclosed
ransomware payments exceeding $10M.
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Cyber: Market in Turmoil
Recent Security Breaches Have Shaken The Market

Insurer Claims & Losses Are Increasing Dramatically
Exhibit 2

Exhibit 3

US P/C Industry – Cyber Claims by Policy and Claim Type,
2016-2020

US P/C Industry – Standalone and Packaged Direct
Incurred Loss & DCC Incurred Ratios, 2016-2020
80

25,000

20,000

# of Claims

5,664

15,000

3,581

10,000
2,283
5,000

0

1,537
1,742
1,241
1,435

2016
2017
Standalone 1st Party
Standalone 3rd Party

7,222

5,157

3,658
1,656
1,420

6,468

8,655
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3,007
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2,243
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0

2,250
1,855

Direct Paid Loss & DCC Ratio

70

2019
2020
Packaged 1st Party
Packaged 3rd Party

Source: AM Best data and research

2016

2017
Standalone

2018

2019

2020

Packaged

Source: AM Best data and research

Source: AM Best
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Market Trends
Crime
• Difficult economic times generally lead to greater employee
theft. Similarly, out of work employees may turn to
fraudulent/criminal activity to pay basic living expenses.
• Increased risk of Social Engineering claims due to remote
working. These are claims where a third party impersonates an
employer, client, fellow employee, or vendor and tricks the
employee into transferring money, securities, or confidential
information. Employees working remotely may be less willing or
able to double check with managers regarding payment
changes. Working from smaller screens such as laptops or
distracting home environments can also make mistakes more
likely.
• As many companies reduce their workforce, they find fewer
employees performing more duties. Maintaining segregation of
duties is important risk management to reduce the potential for
crime claims.
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Recent Premium Trends: Across Coverage Lines
Premiums Increased Across All Coverage Lines, Led By Umbrella/Excess Liability
Premium Trends by Coverage Class – Q3 2021
Percent Increase from Prior Year
Umbrella / Excess

11.7%

D&O Liability

11.3%

Property

9.0%

Commercial Auto

9.0%

EPLI

9.0%

Professional Liability

6.7%

Business Interruption

6.7%

General Liability

6.0%

Inland Marine

5.7%

Fiduciary

2.0%

Crime

2.0%

Surety
Workers' Compensation

1.0%
0.0%

Cyber Trends discussed later in report
Source: Market Scout
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Recent Premium Trends: Across Industry Sectors
By industry, transportation and habitational are seeing the largest premium increases.
Premium Trends by Industry Class – Q3 2021
Average Percent Change from Prior Year

10.7%
9.0%

6.7%
6.0%

6.0%

Service

Contracting

7.0%

5.3%

Public Entity

Manufacturing

Energy

Habitational

Transportation
Source: Market Scout
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History of Liability Insurance for Utilities

Important Role of Industry Insurers: AEGIS and EIM
Liability insurance for utilities in the past 60+ years fluctuated wildly as insurers entered the utility arena with great promise, only to
depart abruptly a few short years later, leaving utilities scurrying for insurance and third party liability protections. Resulting
uncertainty of available insurance and related cost led utilities to form their own dedicated insurers.

Some major insurers such as Lloyds of
London, General Reinsurance, The
Home Insurance company, Lloyds
again – and countless minor players
who took very small portions of large
accounts at times when premiums
were at peak during "tight" markets –

abandoned utilities when claims
caught up with premiums and/or the
competition was attracted to the
peak-level premiums and ultimately
forced the prices down. Many of those
insurers later filed for bankruptcy
leaving policyholders high and dry
without the protection for which they
had contracted.
This behavior was evident from the
1950s through around 1986. A

significant number of the utility
insurers that were active in those
years no longer exist.

Meanwhile, the dedication and
commitment of AEGIS (and EIM) for
over thirty years to the energy industry
is an insurance record. These utilityowned companies starkly differ from
the multiple piece-players of the 1970s
and 1980s.
Today, AEGIS is the insurer of
choice for 314+ members consisting
of gas and electric utilities in the U.S.
and Canada with some similar entities
in Europe joining in recent years.

AEGIS and EIM are recognized in
the global insurance marketplace
as the leaders for utility insurance.

Other insurers in Europe and Bermuda
(the major insurance centers for the
world) are now very keen to follow
these industry leaders and to offer
additional limits over those provided
by YOUR industry's mutuals.

Recognizing a need for higher limits
than AEGIS can provide ($35 million for
Liability, Directors and Officers, for
example), utilities formed Energy

Insurance Mutual (EIM) to provide
more limits (up to $100 million for
Liability and $50 million D&O in
addition to the AEGIS limits).
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AEGIS Update
2020 reminded everyone why the Aegis was formed. The global pandemic, the resulting volatility in the financial
markets, and the disruption in the commercial insurance market created significant challenges for the Aegis members.
Aegis responded with expanded limits, and supported its membership with added underwriting and loss control
resources. Thanks to continued member support, Aegis gross premiums and policyholder surplus reached highest levels
in the history of the company. Aegis also paid a record amount in claims. In addition, Aegis distributed $63 million in
premium credits in 2020.
Aegis’ London operations continue to contribute significantly to the policyholder surplus. Aegis London is recognized as
a top-quartile syndicate at Lloyd’s of London in terms of profitability and claims management, and its divers book of
business helps balance the risks associated with the energy sector.

AEGIS – 2020 Annual Report










$2.1B Gross Written Premium (All lines)
$1.9B Policyholder Surplus
$63M Member Credits
89% Combined Ratio
5% Mutual Expense Ratio
$19B Claims Paid to Policyholders since 1975
“A” Stable – AM Best Rating
Increased limits for Excess Liability, D&O, Property and Cyber

Source: 2020 Aegis Annual Report

Note from Underwriting:
Aegis underwriting has advised that they are no longer offering the $70 million aggregate limit for their ISO/RTO
customers. The new maximum aggregate will be $35 million, but they are working on solutions in 2022 that may
provide additional limits outside of the “failure to supply and designated services” coverage.
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EIM Update
Despite the challenges that EIM faced in 2020, the financial metrics were overall positive. EIM continued to be a stable
source of capacity for its members, and in fact increased overall capacity in a market where excess insurers are pulling
back.
EIM was fortunate to have established an updated three-year strategic plan, reviewed by the Insurance Advisory
Committee and approved by the Board in late 2019, which runs from 2020 through 2022. The current strategic plan
focuses on the Member Experience, highlighting four major objectives: Relationships, Protect the Core, Engage Progress,
and Our People. While focused, in many instances, on pandemic-related priorities, EIM made progress in each
of these areas during the past year.

EIM – 2020 Annual Report

100% renewal of existing policies (excluding M&A)
$1.489B Policyholder Surplus
$50M in Member Distributions
109% net loss ratio
• With a net expense ratio of 5%, EIM reported a 114% net combined
ratio for the year, slightly above a budget of 100%
• 5 year average net combined ratio of 99%
 “A” Stable – AM Best Rating
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4. ACTIVITIES & ACCOMPLISHMENTS

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC

48 of 171

32

Activities & Accomplishments
Stephens appreciates the opportunity to continue to serve Southwest Power Pool in the role of
insurance and risk management advisor.









Key lines of insurance
renewed with rates
better than anticipated

Cyber Liability
transition to Aegis

Provided direction
and resources on
COVID-19
Presidential OSHA
mandate.

Meetings with
SPP team about
Ransomware
prevention and
how D&O/Cyber
insurance
responds in
certain
ransomware
claim scenarios.

•

Aegis excess liability
renewal rate at 2.9% rate
increase / +10%
anticipated

•

EIM excess liability renewal
rate at 0.40% rate increase
/ +25% anticipated

•

•

D&O program renewed at
6.7% rate increase / +15%
anticipated

• AIG (expiring primary
cyber insurer) reduced
limits from $10M to $5M for
same premium as
expiring. Premium
indications for $5M excess
of AIG primary were $144K
• Aegis offers $10M in limits
for $128K ($16K savings
over AIG primary option)
• Transition to Aegis allows
for “Failure to Supply”
policy language

All other lines of insurance
renewed with better rates
than anticipated.
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5. INSURANCE PROGRAM REVIEW
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Premium Base Rate Versus Rate Change
300%

238%

250%

200%

150%

100%

84%
70%

50%

0%

-28%

-50%

-100%

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Payroll

2015
Revenue
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Rate
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Property Limits

Deductibles:
All Perils
Flood
Quake
Named Storm
Other Wind/Hail
Time Element
Machinery

$250,000
$250,000
$250,000
$250,000
$250,000
$250,000
$ 10,000

Blanket Real & Personal Property
Property Limits: $126,233,049
Sublimits
Business income and Extra Expense: $1.5M
Flood: $50M
Earthquake: $50M
Boiler & Machinery
$50Million

DEDUCTIBLES
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Liability Limits

$55M Excess of Primary

EIM $20M XS OF AEGIS $35M

AEGIS $35M XS OF PRIMARY
AND SELF INSURED RETENTION
Includes Professional

$1M Excess
Starstone
$1M AUTO
Everest

$1M LIABILITY
Everest

$1M Employers
Liability
Everest
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Professional
$2M SIR
AEGIS

EPLI $10M
SIR - $200K EACH
CLAIMANT
/ $2M EACH OCC
AEGIS
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Executive Liability Limits
DIRECTORS & OFFICERS LIABILITY

FIDUCIARY LIABILITY

LIMITS
$5 million excess $55 million
Old Republic
$5 million excess $50 million
Great Midwest
$5 million excess $45 million
Axis
$5 million excess $40 million
AIG
$5 million excess $35 million
Starr
$5 million excess $30 million
Zurich
$5 million excess $25 million
AWAC
$5 million excess $20 million
CNA
$5 million excess $15 million
AIG
$5 million excess $10 million
RSUI
$5 million excess $5 million
Travelers
$5 million

Chubb

$5 million

Travelers

RETENTIONS
D&O

$0 Non-indemnified/

$2,500

$25k indemnified & entity
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Cyber Liability Limits

$10M Beazley / Lloyds

$10M Aegis

$1M Retention

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC

55 of 171

39

6. CLAIMS SUMMARIES
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Workers’ Compensation Claims Summary
$5,000
$4,500
$4,000
$3,500
$3,000
$2,500
$2,000
$1,500
$1,000
$500
$0
Total Claims Incurred
Claim Count
Loss / Premium Ratio

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

$980

$1,211

$0

$0

$785

$4,739

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

1

1

0

0

3

2

0

1

0

0

0

1.16%

1.68%

0.00%

0.00%

0.92%

8.71%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Claims valued 9/12/2021
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Auto Claim Summary
$25,000

$20,000

$15,000

$10,000

$5,000

$0

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Total Claims Incurred

$0

$21,978

$0

$0

$0

$158

$3,529

$1,383

$0

$0

$0

Claim Count

0

2

0

0

0

1

2

2

0

0

0

Premium

$3,360

$3,290

$3,789

$4,139

$4,211

$2,571

$2,651

$2,517

$3,008

$4,292

$4,866

Loss / Premium Ratio

0.00%

668.02%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

6.15%

133.11%

54.93%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Claims valued 9/12/2021

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC

58 of 171

42

7. BENCHMARKS
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Regional Transmissions Organizations
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Benchmark – Excess Liability

Umbrella Limits
Compared to AEGIS/EIM ISO/RTO Book
100,000,000

50,000,000

$65,000,000

$35,000,000

0

Liability Limits- Average

$20,000,000
$35,000,000

SPP Limits

AEGIS insures all nine RTO/ISO’s. Limits average $35M in excess coverage.
EIM insures six of the nine RTO/ISO’s. Limits average $65M in excess coverage.
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Benchmark – Directors & Officers Liability

Directors/Officers Limits
Compared to AEGIS/EIM ISO/RTO Book

Chubb –
Primary $5M
with various
excess insurers

50,000,000
$41,000,000

0

$31,666,667

$60,000,000

Liability Limits- Average

SPP Limits

AEGIS insures three RTO/ISO’s for D&O. Two buy $35M in limits and one buys $25M.
EIM insures four RTO/ISO’s for D&O. Limits carried vary from $25M to $50M. The average carried is $41M.
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Benchmark – Cyber Liability

Cyber Liability Limits
Compared to AEGIS/EIM ISO/RTO Book

20,000,000

$10,000,000

0

$17,000,000

$10,000,000

Liability Limits- Average

SPP Limits

AEGIS insures 5 RTO/ISO’s for cyber liability. Limits average $17M
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8. DISCUSSION TOPICS/RENEWAL PLANNING
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2021 Planning & Discussion
Renewal Expectations for SPP

Other Cover Discussion

 Workers Compensation +3-5%

 Punitive Wrap

 General Liability +5%

 Crime

 Auto + 7-10%
 Aegis Umbrella/Excess +10%
(Aegis projected rate increase is primary driven by the ISO
related issues highlighted by Winter Storm Uri and how it
affected the state of Texas.

 EIM Umbrella/Excess +20-30%

•

Traditional coverage, beyond just ERISA

•

Workplace Violence

•

Social Engineering Fraud

 Workplace Violence / Active Shooter
 Patent Infringement (Defense coverage)

(EIM is currently seeing 20-30% increases due to increase in
claims frequency.)

 Property + 10-15%
(CNA has mandated a wind/hail percentage deductible
on all accounts. Underwriters have agreed to review SPP
due to longtime partnership and favorable loss history)

 Management Liability +15%
•

Deliver Primary Proposal by March 1, 2022

 Cyber Liability +20%
(Aegis has advised a minimum 20% increase on all
cyber renewals and a possible increase in retention.)

All renewal expectations are based on current losses and insurance market conditions. Renewal pricing is subject to
underwriting submission and review.
CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF STEPHENS INSURANCE, LLC

65 of 171

49

9. SERVICES CHECKLIST
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Brokerage & Risk Management
Brokerage

Risk Management

• Risk Assessment

• Actuarial Loss Projections & Development

• Insurance policy coverage form audit

• Contract review for exposures to Risk

• Program design with Optimum Cost Savings

• Captive Feasibility for existing exposures &
3rd party

• Global access to Markets
• Strategic Submission to markets
• Manuscript policy forms & endorsements
• Establish timelines with Carrier partners
• Program Implementation
• Review of Accruals/ Ultimate Loss allocation
• Premium audit reconciliation

• Collateral Analysis to determine over/under
accrual
• Review & Assess 3rd party insurance
requirements
• Wind, Earthquake, & Terrorism loss modeling
• Flood mapping

• Annual Stewardship Review

• Provide Peer group Benchmarks

• Semi-Annual insurance market whitepaper

• NCCI Experience Mod Verification software
• Due Diligence as required
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Claims Advocacy & Loss Control

Legal
•

Review of wording for Certificates of

Claims Management
•

Insurance
•

Analysis of policy language as a

Process with Carrier Partners
•

Claim Advocate
•

Manuscript wording for specialized

•

Analysis of contractual exposures to
risk

•

Due Diligence for insurance and risk

•

management
•

Aid in settlement of disputed claims

•

Disaster preparedness

•

Manage Carrier requirement
expectations

•

Evaluation of Replacement Cost

•

Mock OSHA Inspections

•

Detailed “root cause” analyses

Practices”

•

Facility site visits as required

Regular Claim Review sessions with

•

Industrial Hygiene

Casualty underwriters

•

Ergonomic assessment

Design of Special Handling

•

Develop underwriting risk reports

Reserving research to guard against
inflation of losses

•

•

Presentation of complex property
claims to Underwriters

endorsements
•

Management of Overall Claims

Loss Control

Review of Carrier handling “Best

Instructions
•

Assist in Selection of TPA & Data
Systems as required
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Risk Identification, Quantification & Analysis

Predictive Analytics
Actuarial Loss Forecasting

Collateral Analysis

Catastrophic Modeling

Market Intelligence & Trends
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Descriptive Analytics
Claims & Cause of Loss Analysis

Risk Engineering & Safety

Alternative Risk Financing Solutions

Benchmarking
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Building on technology platforms for your success.

Technology-Enabled Analysis
At Stephens Insurance, we leverage
technology to improve the quality and
efficiency of our risk management
strategy.
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Technology Solutions

Succeed is a secure risk management and occupational
safety solution platform used to:
• Improve risk management, loss control and prevention, and
OSHA compliance efforts and results; and
• Provide a cost-effective risk management and
occupational safety center for your entire organization.

InsurLink, powered by Vertafore, is a client portal used to:
• Store records and policy information securely and encrypt
documents to secure PII; and
• Provide clients with digital self-service access to their policy
information from a desktop computer, smart phone, or
tablet.
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Succeed Risk Management Center

Introducing the

Risk Management Center
Enhanced Risk Management Resources,
Efficiencies, and Bottom-Line Results

Reduce your claims by tracking
incidents.

Build behavior-based
safetyprograms easily.

Organize and manage your Safety
Data Sheets.

Maintain safe practices in your
workplace.

Create job descriptions and returnto-work programs easily.

Create and maintain audits, surveys,
and questionnaires.

Manage your certificates of
insurance before a problem occurs.

Track user trainingautomatically.
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Technology Solutions

ModMaster offers experience mod analysis used to:
• Present premium costs of individual workers' comp claims;
• Identify cost drivers and the impact of specific losses or
policy periods; and
• Analyze trends and the impact of specific losses or policy
periods.

Risk66 or Loss Forecaster is an analytical tool used to:
• Summarize historical losses and project future losses;
• Calculate incurred loss and pure loss rate;
• Complete reserve analyses to meet regulatory and
financial reporting criteria;
• Define risk retention levels and policy limits;
• Create an estimated schedule of loss payments; and
• Compute the net present value of future loss payments.
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QUESTIONS?
Follow us on:
facebook.com/ about.stephens
linkedin.com/company/ stephens-inc
twitter.com/ stephens_inc
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Memorandum
To:

SPP Finance Committee

From:

Tom Dunn

CC:
Date:

January 13, 2022

Re:

Actuarial Assumptions for Pension Valuation

The SPP Finance Committee, at its April 2013 meeting, requested SPP staff provide an early look at assumptions utilized in
valuation of SPP’s pension plan and post-retirement healthcare plan. This memo provides that look at the four major
assumptions: discount rate, long-term rate of return, compensation change rate, and mortality tables.
Discount Rate: The SPP Finance Committee, at its April 2008 meeting, concurred on a process to set the discount rate used in
valuing pension liabilities. In general, the method used to set the discount rate follows the framework described in the Pension
Protection Act of 2006. Section 102 of Title I of the Pension Protection Act of 2006 defines interest rates for determining the
funding targets of covered plans. These interest rates are based on the Corporate Bond Yield Curve prescribed by the U.S.
Treasury Department and reflect the twenty four month average of investment grade corporate bonds (the top three rating
tranches).
Also described in the Pension Protection Act of 2006 are three Segment Rates that can be used for the purpose of assigning a
discount rate. These rates are differentiated based on the maturities of the corporate bonds underlying the yield curves used
to determine each rate. The segments are broken down as follows:
1.
2.
3.

First – zero through five years
Two – six through fifteen years and
Three – greater than fifteen years

The final issue to address is the selection of a Segment Rate for the SPP plan. One of the most pertinent demographic points to
consider here is that the average age of the participants in the SPP retirement plan is less than 45 years. This would indicate
that major distributions from the plan should not begin occurring, on average, for another twenty years.
The Internal Revenue Service publishes periodic updates to segment rates throughout the year. The most recent update,
published December 2021 indicated 24-month average segment rates of 0.92%/2.62%/3.29%. SPP used a discount rate of
4.00% in 2021. SPP staff recommends a discount rate to 4.00% going forward, in line with the 3rd segment discount rate. The
U.S. Federal Reserve, in December 2021, signaled it expected to see 3 rate increases during 2022; therefore, SPP staff
recommends holding the discount rate a 4.00% right now.
Long-term Rate of Return: The SPP Finance Committee, at its April 2008 meeting, concurred on a process to set the long-term
rate of return used in pension valuation. The method used by SPP to assign the long-term rate of return is based upon an
analysis of the long-term returns of widely recognized benchmark investments similar in asset allocation to the investments
held in the pension plan trust. The benchmark returns are weighted based on SPP’s desired asset allocation described in the
Investment Policy Statement.
The Russell 3000 Index measures the performance of the largest 3000 U.S. companies representing approximately 98% of the
investable U.S. equity market. The Russell 3000 Index is constructed to provide a comprehensive, unbiased, and stable
barometer of the broad market and is completely reconstituted annually to ensure new and growing equities are reflected. The
ICE BofAML Corporate 5-10 Year Index tracks the performance of U.S. dollar denominated investment grade rated corporate
debt publicly issued in the U.S. domestic market. This subset includes all securities with a remaining term to maturity of 5 to 10
years.
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10 Year Return (1/1/2012 – 12/31/2021)
Target Allocation
Weighted Avg. Return
Historical Expected Portfolio Return

Russell 3000

ICE BofAMLCorp
5-10 yearIndex

16.30%
70%
11.41%

2.63%
30%
0.79%
12.20%

SPP used a long-term rate of return assumption of 7.00% in 20201. SPP staff recommends retaining the long-term rate of
return at 7.00%. The weighted average return on the benchmarks well exceeds SPP’s recommended rate of return for analysis
purposes. SPP believes the equity returns in the tail end of the 10 year review period have been abnormally high. Similarly,
falling interest rates during most of the 10 year review period have served to drive up fixed income index returns abnormally.
Maintaining the 7% long-term rate remains conservative and is supported by the actuary. The chart below illustrates the plan’s
actual annual return versus the 7% target since 2012.

Compensation Change Rate: SPP’s year over year growth rate in compensation has significantly exceeded the long-term growth
rate of 4% SPP has used in its pension valuation. SPP expects compensation growth to slow absent unforeseen growth in total
staffing levels. A 4% long-term growth rate is consistent with that used by many of SPP’s members in their pension plan
evaluations and is consistent with the compensation changes for 2022 approved by the SPP Human Resources Committee. SPP
staff recommends retaining the 4.00% compensation rate change for the upcoming valuation.
Pension Mortality Table: The SPP Finance Committee, at its December 7, 2015 meeting, determined a preference to maintain
the mortality table consistent with the table used by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. The IRS updates its mortality tables
annually. SPP utilized the IRS-2021 table for its prior valuation. SPP will use the IRS-2022 table for the upcoming valuation.

76 of 171

SOUTHWEST POWER POOL, INC.
CREDIT PRACTICES WORKING GROUP
RECOMMENDATION TO THE FINANCE COMMITTEE
January 13, 2022
Surety Bonds as a Form of Financial Security

ORGANIZATIONAL ROSTER
The following persons are members of the Credit Practices Working Group (“CPWG”):
Caleb Head (Chair)
Jason Regehr
Justin Riddell
LaGena O’Neal
Mark Breese (Vice Chair)
Mark Holler
Matthew Simon
Seth Cochran
Terri Wendlandt
Tom Hestermann
Zachary Wegner

Northeast Texas Electric Cooperative, Inc.
City Utilities of Springfield
The Energy Authority, Inc.
Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority
Xcel Energy
Tenaska Power Services Company
Basin Electric Power Cooperative
DC Energy
Evergy Companies
Sunflower Electric Power Corporation
Omaha Public Power District

BACKGROUND
In April of 2020, the Finance Committee (“Committee”) directed the CPWG to review surety
bonds and determine if and how to allow them as a form of Financial Security in SPP markets.
Currently, Financial Security is defined within Attachment X (“Credit Policy”) of the SPP OATT as
cash, an irrevocable letter of credit, or a federal power marketing agency letter. The Credit
Policy states a credit customer must provide Financial Security to cover:
I.

Total Potential Exposure, if the credit customer is either denied an unsecured credit
allowance or if the allowance granted is less than its total potential exposure

II.

Total Transmission Congestion Rights (“TCR”) Credit Requirement. Per FERC Order
741, TCR requirements cannot be covered with unsecured credit

III.

Satisfaction of the alternative criteria for market participation specified in Section
3.1.1.8.2(e)
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IV.

In lieu of or in addition to the unsecured credit allowance the credit customer was
granted.

At the direction of this Committee, the CPWG began reviewing the use of surety bonds, similar
surety bond filings among other ISO/RTOs, and developing potential language with similar
requirements to the current letter of credit accepted by SPP. During initial discussions and the
drafting of potential surety bond language, it was the intent of the CPWG that surety bonds
could be used to support any of the above-mentioned items that currently are supported
through Financial Security. In other words, this recommendation, if approved through the SPP
stakeholder process and ultimately by the FERC, would allow sureties to secure all types of
financial transactions within SPP’s Integrated Marketplace including TCRs and virtual energy.

ANALYSIS
Much like letters of credit, a surety bond is a legally binding contract between three parties. In
this case, between SPP as beneficiary, the credit customer as principal, and the issuing entity as
surety. While similar in underwriting and form, surety bonds may provide a lower cost
alternative to a letter of credit for creditworthy customers. In administering this tariff policy, SPP
would require any surety bond used as security under the tariff to be submitted on the SPP
approved tariff form which cannot be altered and satisfies all of the following:


Statement that Southwest Power Pool, Inc. is the sole beneficiary or obligee



Underwritten by a surety issuer listed in the U.S. Treasury’s List of Certified Companies
(evidence of listing is required during submission of surety bond)



Underwritten by a surety issuer with a corporate debt, issuer default, or insurer financial
strength rating of at least an “A-“ by S&P, “A3” by Moody’s, “A-“ by Fitch, or “A” by A.M.
Best (evidence of rating is required during submission of surety bond)



Statement that surety issuer will pay SPP upon demand



Statement of any specific language the surety will require of SPP to draw on surety in the
event of non-payment, contract default, and underwriter rating decrease (below ratings
listed above)



Statement that surety will pay the full amount requested by SPP no later than the next
business day after a draw request is presented



Statement that the principal will pay all costs associated with the surety bond including,
without limitation, all commissions and fees associated with the surety bond



Statement that the surety bond has no stated expiration date (evergreen) and that surety
issuer will provide notice to SPP no less than 90 days prior to termination

As with letters of credit, language within the surety bond form allows for SPP to draw down the
surety bond if the credit customer has failed to renew, replace, or amend the surety bond in
satisfaction of the credit requirements established within SPP’s tariff. In addition to the
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requirements above, the CPWG placed financial requirements on the issuing surety as well as
limits on the amounts of sureties accepted by SPP. In order to provide surety bonds to SPP, the
issuing surety must have a tangible net worth of $1 billion or greater. In no case will SPP accept
surety bonds with an aggregate value greater than $10 million issued by any individual surety
on behalf of an individual credit customer; and SPP will not accept surety bonds with an
aggregate value greater than $50 million issued by any individual surety.
The CPWG also reviewed how surety bonds are used across the ISO/RTO industry.


ISO-NE: Acceptance being discussed, but currently not accepted



PJM: Currently accepted but cannot be used to meet FTR requirements



NYISO: Currently accepted



ERCOT: Currently accepted



CAISO: Previously accepted but board of directors eliminated acceptance in 2012 at
request of CFO. However, an entity may submit written permission to CAISO that
explains the basis for the use of such non-standardized forms to which CAISO must
respond within 10 days.

As previously stated, SPP currently requires credit customers to post letters of credit or cash to
satisfy Financial Security requirements defined in Attachment X. The intention of this
recommendation is to allow the use of sureties to secure all forms of market transactions
including TCR and virtual energy positions.
The use of surety bonds as Financial Security is expected to reduce the cost to credit customers
to secure tariff transactions; however, surety bonds may not provide the instant liquidity to
satisfy obligations in the manner of letters of credit or cash. Underwriters of surety instruments
are not registered as financial institutions and are not subject to the same regulatory
requirements as issuers of letters of credit. The less rigorous regulation and oversight of
underwriters may result in the underwriter not performing as timely on the surety as we are
accustomed to in dealing with letters of credit. The recommendation establishes minimum
ratings and financial size and limits exposure to a single surety issuer to attempt to mitigate
these concerns.
SPP staff is not supportive of allowing surety bonds to secure tariff transactions. SPP staff
believes surety bonds are not as strong as letters of credit or cash and therefore exposes the
tariff customers to an incremental increase in loss exposure when used as Financial Security in
place of letters of credit and/or cash. The CPWG is aware of and understands the position of
SPP staff on this topic and feels the language and limits within the surety bond draft form and
Credit Policy appropriately mitigates the potential risk of loss to tariff customers.
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RECOMMENDATION
The Credit Practices Working Group recommends the Finance Committee approve the use of
surety bonds as an additional form of Financial Security within the Credit Policy as outlined
above which would allow sureties to secure all types of financial transactions within SPP’s
Integrated Marketplace.
Approved:

Credit Practices Working Group
Recommendation passed unopposed

Action Requested:

December 16, 2021

Approve the recommendation
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Revision Request Form
SPP STAFF TO COMPLETE THIS SECTION
RR #:

Date: 09/20/2021

RR Title: Surety Bond as a form of Financial Security
System Changes
No
Yes
Process Changes?

No

Yes

Impact Analysis Required?
No
Yes | If no, but system or process changes are expected please explain why an Impact
Analysis will not be performed (e.g. FERC Order, work included in another Impact Analysis for a related RR):

SUBMITTER INFORMATION
Name: Jared Barker on behalf of Credit Practices WG

Company: Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Email: jbarker@spp.org

Phone: 501-614-3234

Only Qualified Entities may submit Revision Requests.
Please select at least one applicable option below, as it applies to the named submitter(s).
SPP Market Monitor
SPP Staff
Staff of government authority with jurisdiction over
SPP Market Participant
SPP/SPP member
SPP Member
Rostered individual of SPP Committee, Task Force or
An entity designated by a Qualified Entity to submit
Working Group
Transmission Customers or other entities that are parties to
a Revision Request “on their behalf”
transactions under the Tariff
REVISION REQUEST DETAILS
Requested Resolution Timing:

Normal

Expedited

Urgent Action

Reason for Expedited/Urgent Resolution:
Type of Revision (select all that apply):
Correction (i.e., revising erroneous language or
language that needs clean-up for grammatical errors or
inconsistency across governing documents - no changes to
intent or policy)

Clarification (i.e., revising language to better
represent existing intent, no changes to functionality or
policy)

New Protocol, Business Practice, Criteria, Tariff
(i.e, new language to accommodate new functionality or
policy not existing today)
NERC Standard Impact (Specifically state if
revision relates to/or impacts NERC Standards, list
standard(s))
FERC Mandate (List order number(s))

Enhancement (i.e., revising language to expand upon
existing intent or functionality)

REVISION REQUEST RISK DRIVERS
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Are there existing risks to one or more SPP Members or the BES driving the need for this RR?

Yes

No

If yes, provided details to explain the risk and timelines associated:
Compliance (Tariff, NERC, Other)
Reliability/Operations
Financial: Given that underwriters of surety instruments are not registered as financial institutions and are not subject to the
same regulatory requirements, some amount of credit risk is introduced by allowing sureties as a form of Financial Security. While
estimated as a potentially small amount of risk undertaken by the aggregate of market participants, it is appropriate to at least
identify in this section. The intention of this RR is to allow the use of sureties to secure all forms of market transactions which
includes transmission congestion rights (“TCR”) and virtual energy.
SPP Documents Requiring Revision:
Please select your primary intended document(s) as well as all others known that could be impacted by the requested revision (e.g.
a change to a protocol that would necessitate a criteria or business practice revision).
Market Protocols
Section(s):
Protocol Version:
Operating Criteria
Section(s):
Criteria Date:
Planning Criteria
Section(s):
Criteria Date:
Section(s): Attachment X, Articles 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, Appendix “A,” Appendix
Tariff (OATT)
“B,”and Appendix “F”
Business Practice
Business Practice Number:
Integrated Transmission Planning (ITP)
Section(s):
Manual
Revision Request Process
Section(s):
Minimum Transmission Design
Section(s):
Standards for Competitive Upgrades (MTDS)
Reliability Coordinator and Balancing
Section(s):
Authority Data Specifications (RDS)
SPP Communications Protocols
Section(s):
OBJECTIVE OF REVISION
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Objectives of Revision Request:
Describe the problem/issue this revision request will resolve.
The purpose of this RR is to include Surety Bonds as a form of “Financial Security” within Attachment X (“Credit Policy”) of the
SPP OATT. This would allow sureties to secure all types of financial transactions within SPP’s Integrated Marketplace including
TCRs and virtual energy.
Currently, the Credit Policy defines Cash, an Irrevocable Letter of Credit, or a Federal Power Marketing Agency Letter as the only
forms of Financial Security. The Credit Policy requirement states a Credit Customer must provide Financial Security to cover: (i)
Total Potential Exposure, if the Credit Customer is either denied an Unsecured Credit Allowance or if the allowance granted is less
than its Total Potential Exposure, (ii) Total TCR Credit Requirement. Per FERC Order 741, TCR requirements cannot be covered
with unsecured credit, (iii) Satisfaction of the alternative criteria for market participation specified in Section 3.1.1.8.2(e), and/or
(iv) Credit Customer may also submit Financial Security in lieu of or in addition to the Unsecured Credit Allowance it was granted.
Much like letters of credit, a surety bond is a legally binding contract between three parties. In this case, between SPP as
beneficiary, the Credit Customer as principal, and the issuing entity as surety. While similar in underwriting and form, surety bonds
may provide a lower cost entry point as compared to a letter of credit for creditworthy customers. In administering this Tariff
policy, SPP would require the surety bond that, at a minimum, satisfies all of the following:


Statement that Southwest Power Pool, Inc. is the sole beneficiary or obligee



Underwritten by a surety issuer listed in the U.S. Treasury’s List of Certified Companies (evidence of listing is required
during submission of surety bond)



Underwritten by a surety issuer with a corporate debt, issuer default, or insurer financial strength rating of at least an “A-“
by S&P, “A3” by Moody’s, “A-“ by Fitch, or “A-” by A.M. Best (evidence of rating is required during submission of
surety bond)



Statement that surety issuer will pay SPP upon demand



Statement of any specific language the surety will require of SPP to draw on surety in the event of non-payment, contract
default, and underwriter rating decrease (below ratings listed above)



Statement that surety issuer will pay the full amount requested by SPP no later than the next business day after a draw
request is presented to surety issuer



Statement that Principal will pay all costs associated with the surety bond including, without limitation, all commissions
and fees associated with the surety bond



Statement that the surety bond has no stated expiration date (evergreen) and that surety issuer will provide notice to SPP
no less than 90 days prior to termination

Formatted: Highlight

Surety Bonds within the ISO/RTO industry:


ISO-NE: Acceptance being discussed, but currently not accepted



PJM: Currently accepted but cannot be used to meet FTR requirements



NYISO: Currently accepted



ERCOT: Currently accepted



CAISO: Previously accepted but board of directors eliminated acceptance in 2012 at request of CFO. However, an entity
may submit written permission to CAISO that explains the basis for the use of such non-standardized forms to which
CAISO must respond within 10 days.

Describe the benefits that will be realized from this revision
Currently, SPP requires Credit Customers to post Letters of Credit or Cash as it relates to Financial Security requirements defined
in Attachment X. This RR may reduce the cost to Credit Customers and at the same time not significantly increasing the credit risk
to SPP.
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REVISIONS TO SPP DOCUMENTS
In the appropriate sections below, please provide the language from the current document(s) for which you are requesting
revision(s), with all edits redlined.
Market Protocols

SPP Tariff (OATT)

ATTACHMENT X
Southwest Power Pool, Inc. Credit Policy
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ARTICLE ONE
General Provisions
1.1

Policy Statement. In furtherance of competition and the orderly administration of the
Tariff, Southwest Power Pool (“SPP”) shall administer, implement and enforce this Credit
Policy. This Credit Policy is intended to encourage the maximum participation of large
and small participants in all market sectors while minimizing the likelihood of losses due
to default and to establish eligibility requirements for market participation.

1.2

Applicability of Credit Policy and Overview.
1.2.1

This Credit Policy is applicable to each Credit Customer. It applies to each Credit
Customer regardless of whether SPP previously extended credit to, or established
a Total Credit Limit for, the Credit Customer. .

1.2.2

As a condition to taking any service subject to this Credit Policy, SPP must
determine that the Credit Customer satisfies SPP’s credit requirements and
minimum criteria for market participation under this Credit Policy and the terms
and conditions for an extension of credit. SPP’s determination is a Credit
Assessment. The Credit Assessment is based upon quantitative and qualitative
credit scoring under the formulae and procedures set forth in this Credit Policy.
This Credit Policy provides for initial and ongoing Credit Assessments. In order to
facilitate continuous evaluation of credit, it requires the submission of Credit
Information to SPP periodically and, additionally, upon the occurrence of certain
events. Based upon the ongoing Credit Assessment, SPP is authorized, at any time,
to revise a Credit Customer’s Total Credit Limit and the terms and conditions for
the extension of credit.

1.2.3

SPP shall conduct initial and ongoing Credit Assessments for each Credit
Customer, based, as applicable, upon the Credit Application, Credit Information,
and Credit Ratings. Credit Information includes: (a) the information contained in
and submitted with the Credit Customer’s duly executed Credit Application; and
(b) updated and additional information the Credit Customer is required to submit
from time to time under this Credit Policy. Credit Information and Credit Ratings,
if any, shall be sufficient to enable SPP to determine under this Credit Policy
whether to approve an extension of credit, and the amount, terms, and conditions
thereof, including the extent and nature of any Guaranty or Financial Security.

1.2.4

Based upon its Credit Assessment, SPP will: (a) determine the Credit Customer’s
Total Potential Exposure; (b) determine the amount of credit the Credit Customer
requires; (c) determine whether to grant, and the amount of, any Unsecured Credit
Allowance; (d) evaluate any Guaranty the Credit Customer offers to provide,
including a Credit Assessment for the proposed Guarantor; (e) determine the
amount of any required Financial Security; and (f) determine if the Credit Customer
meets the minimum criteria for market participation under Sections 3.1.1.8 and
3.1.1.9. Based on these determinations, which shall include consideration of the
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Credit Customer’s ability to fulfill SPP’s requirements to obtain credit, SPP will set
the Total Credit Limit for the Credit Customer.

1.3

1.4

1.2.5

To facilitate the Credit Assessment, each Credit Customer shall submit a duly
executed Credit Application in the form attached as Appendix “A,” and the Credit
Information required under this Credit Policy. If SPP determines that an extension
of credit to a Credit Customer must be supported by Financial Security, the Credit
Customer shall, upon SPP’s request, duly execute the Credit and Security
Agreement in the form attached as Appendix “B,” without variation. Any
Irrevocable Letter of Credit shall be substantially in the form attached as Appendix
“C,” and any Guaranty shall be substantially in the form attached as Appendix “D,.”
and any Surety Bond shall be substantially in the form attached as Appendix “F.”
Any variations in the forms of Irrevocable Letter of Credit, and Guaranty, or Surety
Bond must be approved by SPP, and may not materially modify or impair SPP’s
rights under such form, in SPP’s sole reasonable opiniondiscretion. reasonably

1.2.6

This Credit Policy also sets forth separately stated Financial Security requirements
for Transmission Congestion Rights.

Components of Credit Policy. This Credit Policy includes the following elements:
1.3.1

Requirements for the establishment and maintenance of credit applicable to Credit
Customers.

1.3.2

The basis for establishing a Total Credit Limit for a Credit Customer in order to
extend credit, but diminish the possibility of failure of payment under the Tariff
and Agreements.

1.3.3

Forms of Guaranty and Financial Security acceptable to SPP, to be provided if SPP
does not approve an Unsecured Credit Allowance sufficient to cover the Credit
Customer’s Total Potential Exposure or to cover Transmission Congestion Right
activity.

1.3.4

Requirements to facilitate ongoing Credit Assessments.

1.3.5

Specification of Defaults under this Credit Policy and remedies.

1.3.6

Minimum criteria for market participation.

Fairness, Objectivity, and Non-Discrimination. SPP will seek and receive information
and explanation from a Credit Customer as appropriate to help ensure that the Credit
Assessment is fair and thorough. SPP will base each Credit Assessment upon SPP’s
evaluation of the Credit Information, Credit Ratings, and other pertinent indicators of
financial strength identified under this Credit Policy. SPP shall make each Credit
Assessment objectively and without undue discrimination in favor of or against any market
sector. Whenever this Credit Policy permits SPP to exercise discretion in the
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implementation of the provisions of this Credit Policy, SPP shall exercise that discretion
in a fair and impartial manner that treats all Credit Customers in a non-discriminatory
manner.
1.5

1.6

Construction and Interpretation.
1.5.1

The word “including” shall be understood to mean “including without limitation.”
The singular form of a word shall be understood to include the plural form, and vice
versa, as appropriate to implement the applicable term or condition.

1.5.2

Except as otherwise stated, the words “Section” and “Article” refer to sections and
articles of this Credit Policy. A Section reference includes all subsections and
subparts of the Section.

1.5.3

All references to amounts of cash, cash deposits, and to monies paid, provided, due
or otherwise, shall be construed to refer to United States dollars.

Disputes. Any disputes arising under this Credit Policy will be subject to the dispute
resolution procedures set forth in Section 12 of the Tariff.
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ARTICLE TWO
Definitions
2.1
Definitions. The following definitions apply in this Credit Policy. Capitalized terms used
herein and not defined herein shall be given the meaning assigned to them under the Tariff.
Affiliate
A business concern, organization, or individual is an affiliate of another business concern,
organization, or individual, including a Credit Customer, that directly or indirectly: (a) has the
power to control or is controlled by it; or (b) is under common control of a thi rd party. Elements
of control include interlocking management or ownership, shared facilities and equipment, and
common use of employees.
Affiliated Credit Customers
Credit Customers that are Affiliates.
Agreements
The Tariff, including this Credit Policy, any and all agreements entered into by the Credit
Customer under, pursuant to or in connection with the Tariff and/or this Credit Policy, and any
and all other Agreements to which SPP and the Credit Customer are parties.
Auction Clearing Price
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Auction Revenue Right (ARR)
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Bid
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Business Day
A day on which the Federal Reserve System is open for business.
Cash Deposit
Cash collateral provided to SPP to secure a Credit Customer’s performance under the Tariff, this
Credit Policy, and/or any other Agreements, and any other cash to which the Credit Customer has
title or rights in the possession of SPP (cash SPP has applied to payment of an obligation under
the Tariff or Agreements is not cash to which a Credit Customer has title or rights).
Central Prevailing Time
As established by national time standards, either Central Standard Time or Central Day-Light
Time.
Composite Credit Score or Credit Score
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.
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Credit and Security Agreement
A legal document, outlining certain terms pursuant to which a security interest in certain collateral
is granted to SPP, in the form incorporated herein as Appendix “B”.
Credit Application
The completed, executed, and submitted Credit Application in the form attached as Appendix “A”
hereto, together with the Credit Information required under this Credit Policy.
Credit Assessment
This term shall have the meaning given in Article Three.
Credit Contact
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 9.1.
Credit Customer
Any person that takes or seeks to take service under the Tariff including all Transmission Service
or other services under the Tariff, including any market services.
Credit Information
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 1.2.3.
Credit Ratings
Rating assigned by a Rating Agency based on an obligor’s creditworthiness to pay financial
obligations.
Day-Ahead Market
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Day-Ahead Market Marginal Congestion Component (MCC)
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 8.3.1.2 of Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Default or Event of Default
Any default under Article Eight or otherwise under this Credit Policy.
Estimated TCR Exposure (ETCRE)
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.1.3.
Estimated Virtual Exposure (“EVE”)
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4A.2.
ETCRE Bid
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.4.
ETCRE Hold
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.2.
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ETCRE Offer
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.5.
Federal Power Marketing Agency
For purposes of this Credit Policy, this term shall have the same definition that is set forth in the
Federal Power Act at 16 U.S.C. § 796(19), which defines a "Federal power marketing agency" as
"any agency or instrumentality of the United States (other than the Tennessee Valley Authority)
which sells electric energy[.]"
FERC
The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.
Financial Security
A Cash Deposit, Irrevocable Letter of Credit, Surety Bond, or Federal Power Marketing Agency
Letter in amount and in forms as described in Article Seven of this Credit Policy, provided by a
Credit Customer to SPP as security.
Financial Statements
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 3.1.1.1.
Guarantor
An entity that guarantees the obligation of another entity under a Guaranty.
Guaranty
A legal document used by an Affiliate of a Credit Customer pursuant to Article Six to guarantee
the obligations of such Credit Customer for the benefit of SPP.
Incremental Long-Term Congestion Right (ILTCR)
This term shall have the meaning given in Part I. Section 1 of this Tariff.
Irrevocable Letter of Credit
An irrevocable standby letter of credit, with SPP as beneficiary, substantially in the form
attached as Appendix “C” to this Credit Policy and reasonably acceptable to SPP.
Large Company Credit Customers or Large Company
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.1.
Locational Marginal Price
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Long-Term Congestion Right (LTCR)
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of this Tariff.
Market Exposure
This term has the meaning given in Section 5.2.1.
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Material
The lesser of (i) the materiality standard established by the certified public accounting firm
performing the Credit Customer’s annual audit, (ii) an amount that equals or exceeds
five percent (5%) of the Credit Customer’s Tangible Net Worth using the last audited financial
statements, calculated in accordance with generally acceptable accounting principles; and (iii) a
change, event, proceeding, or other occurrence, that results (or if adversely determined could
result) in a change of five percent (5%) or more in the Credit Customer’s Tangible Net Worth
compared to the Tangible Net Worth of the Credit Customer using the last audited financial
statements, calculated in accordance with generally acceptable accounting principles.
Material Adverse Change
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 3.2.7.
Minimum Offer Segment
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.5.3.
Minimum Segment Hold
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.4.3.
Minimum TCR Collateral Requirement
This term has the meaning given in Section 5A.3.6.
Not-For Profit Credit Customers or Not-For-Profit
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.3.
Offer
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Operating Day
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Operating Hour
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Peak Market Activity Day
The day in which a Credit Customer’s calculated charges owed to SPP are the greatest, over a
specified period.
Potential Exposure Window
The number of days of credit exposure for a Credit Customer equal to the sum of days of service
that have been invoiced but not paid, days of service that have been calculated but not invoiced,
days of service in the cure period, and days before service can be terminated.
Qualitative Score
This term has the meanings applicable under Article Four.
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Quantitative Score
This term has the meanings applicable under Article Four.
Rating Agency(ies)
Any Rating Agency that is a “Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations” as defined
by the US Securities Exchange Commission. Currently there are four — Dominion Bond Rating
Service Ltd., Fitch, Inc., Moody's Investors Service, and the Standard & Poor's Division of the
McGraw Hill Companies Inc.

Commented [A1]: Does this need to include A.M Best?
Need specific legal entity designation
Commented [A2R1]: After SPP review, it was determined
that A.M. Best does not need to be added to this definition since
“Rating Agency” is not applicable in the Financial Security
sections of the Credit Policy.

Real-Time
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Real-Time Balancing Market
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
SEC
The Securities and Exchange Commission.
Settlement Location
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Settlement Statement
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Small Company Credit Customers or Small Company
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.2.
Surety Bond
A surety bond, with SPP as beneficiary, substantially in the form attached as Appendix “F” to
this Credit Policy and reasonably acceptable to SPP.
Tangible Net Worth
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.
TCR Final Reference Price
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.2.1.
TCR Mean Price
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.2.1.
TCR Portfolio Credit Requirement
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.3.
TCR Stress Test Price
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5A.2.1.
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Total Credit Limit
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.5.
Total Potential Exposure or TPE
SPP’s estimate of the Credit Customer’s current or anticipated transaction activity and resulting
obligations for all services under the Tariff or otherwise, excluding Transmission Congestion
Rights activity.
Total Potential Exposure Violation
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 5.4.1.
Total TCR Credit Requirement
Total TCR Credit Requirement is the amount of Financial Security a Credit Customer must provide
in order to support the TCR positions that it holds and/or for which it is submitting Bids and Offers.
Transmission Congestion Right (TCR)
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Transmission Congestion Right Auction (TCR Auction)
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Transmission Service Potential Exposure
This term shall have the meaning give in Section 5.2.2.
Unsecured Credit Allowance
This term shall have the meaning given in Section 4.3.
Virtual Energy Bid,
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
Virtual Energy Offer
This term shall have the meaning given in Attachment AE of the Tariff.
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ARTICLE THREE
Credit Assessment

3.1

Minimum Criteria for Market Participation and Initial Credit Assessment.

3.1.1

Credit Application and Credit Information. A Credit Customer must submit a
completed and duly executed Credit Application. The Credit Application shall be
renewed and updated for each successive year and shall be submitted to SPP no
later than April 30 of each year. A completed Credit Application includes
submission of the Credit Application form (Appendix “A”), all information
required under Section 3.1.1, and additional information that SPP may request. The
Credit Customer must submit the following information with its Credit Application.

3.1.1.1

Audited Financial Statements and Related Information. All
annual Financial Statements submitted must be audited. Financial
Statements are the following.

a.

b.

If the Credit Customer is subject to SEC reporting
requirements, Financial Statements are:

i.

Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the three fiscal
years most recently ended, together with any
amendments thereto;

ii.

Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each completed
fiscal quarter of the then current fiscal year, together
with any amendments thereto; and

iii.

Form 8-K reports, if any, filed after the most recent
Form 10-K.

If the Credit Customer is not subject to SEC reporting
requirements, Financial Statements are:

i.

For each of the three fiscal years most recently
ended, the Report of Independent Accountants (for
each of the three fiscal years most recently ended);
and audited financial statements, including balance
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sheet, income statement, statement of cash flow, and
statement of stockholder’s equity;

3.1.1.2

ii.

For each completed fiscal quarter of the then current
fiscal year; financial statements as described in (i)
above. Unaudited quarterly financial statements are
acceptable.

iii.

Notes to financial statements; and

iv.

Management’s discussion and analysis, if any.

c.

The Credit Customer may submit Financial Statements by
informing SPP, in writing, where the Financial Statements
can be retrieved through the internet. Successful retrieval by
SPP will satisfy the Financial Statements submission
requirements of this Section. If SPP is not satisfied with the
retrieval through the internet, it may require the Credit
Customer to submit Financial Statements in hard copy form.

d.

In the event any parts of the Financial Statements required
under this Section are inapplicable to the Credit Customer,
SPP may specify alternate requirements. SPP may request
additional Financial Statements and related information at its
sole discretion.

e.

For Not-For-Profit Credit Customers, some of the above
financial submittals may not be applicable, and alternate
requirements may be specified by SPP.

f.

In the credit evaluation of Not-For-Profit Credit Customers,
SPP may request additional information as part of the overall
financial review process and will consider other relevant
factors
in
determining financial strength
and
creditworthiness.

References. The Credit Customer must provide at least one bank
reference and at least three references from entities that have
significant commercial relationships with the Credit Customer.
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3.1.1.3

Loss Contingencies. The Credit Customer must fully and
accurately identify and describe each of the following, or state that
there are no such matters applicable to the Credit Customer:

a.

known pending or, to the Credit Customer’s knowledge,
threatened, court actions, arbitration proceeding,
investigations, commitments, claims, contingencies, or
existing or potential liabilities that are or would be Material
if determined adversely to the Credit Customer;

b.

ongoing investigations by the SEC, the FERC, or of any
other governing, regulatory, or standards body that is
Material or would be Material if determined adversely to the
Credit Customer;

c.

prior bankruptcy declarations or petitions, voluntary or
involuntary, by or against the Credit Customer, its
predecessors, subsidiaries or Affiliates; and

d.

Material defalcations or fraud by or involving the Credit
Customer, its predecessors, subsidiaries or Affiliates, or any
of their respective assets.

3.1.1.4

Affiliates. The Credit Customer must identify all Affiliates that are
Credit Customers.

3.1.1.5

Total Potential Exposure Information. The Credit Customer shall
provide an estimate of its current or anticipated transaction activity
for all services under the Tariff or otherwise over the succeeding
twelve months, excluding Transmission Congestion Rights activity,
sufficient to permit SPP to determine the Credit Customer’s Total
Potential Exposure.

3.1.1.6

Attestation Minimum Criteria for Market Participation and of
Risk Management Capabilities. Each applying Market Participant
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shall submit to SPP a notarized statement signed by an authorized
officer in the form attached as “Appendix E” to this Attachment X,
attesting that:
a.
The officer has signature authority to make the statement;
b.
Employees or agents transacting in markets and services
provided pursuant to the Tariff on behalf of the applying
Market Participant have received, or will receive, applicable
training with regard to their participation under this Tariff as
a condition of being authorized to transact on behalf of the
Market Participant;
c.
The applying Market Participant will maintain current
written risk management policies and procedures that
address those risks that could materially affect the applying
Market Participant’s ability to pay its SPP invoices when
due;
d.
The applying Market Participant has available appropriate
personnel resources, operating procedures, and technical
abilities to promptly and effectively respond to SPP
communications and directions related to, but not limited to,
settlements, billing, credit requirements and other financial
matters;
e.
The applying Market Participant will maintain the minimum
capitalization or alternate capitalization requirements set
forth in Section 3.1.1.8 of this Attachment X; and
f.
Certifying that the Market Participant meets the minimum
criteria for market participation set forth in Section 3.1.1.8.
Such attestation shall be renewed and updated for each successive
year of market participation, and shall be submitted to SPP no later
than April 30 of each year.
The applying Market Participant shall be declined participation in
all SPP markets if: (i) the risk management capabilities of the
applying Market Participant are deemed insufficient by SPP for the
type of service that will be undertaken, (ii) SPP determines that the
applying Market Participant does not meet the minimum criteria for
market participation, (iii) the attestation is deemed insufficient by
SPP to determine the risk management capabilities of the applying
Market Participant, or (iv) the attestation is deemed insufficient by
SPP to determine whether the applying Market Participant meets the
minimum criteria for market participation. An applying Market
Participant will have two (2) Business Days from receipt of notice
from SPP that its attestation was deemed insufficient to cure any
deficiency identified by SPP prior to being declined participation in
SPP markets.
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3.1.1.7

Additional Information. At any time and from time to time, SPP
may request such additional information as SPP determines is
necessary and appropriate for the Credit Assessment and the Credit
Customer shall timely provide such additional information. At any
time, the Credit Customer may provide SPP with additional
information that the Credit Customer considers relevant to the
Credit Assessment.

3.1.1.8

Minimum Criteria for Market Participation.
3.1.1.8.1

Minimum Eligibility Requirements

In order to be eligible to transact in the Integrated
Marketplace, each Market Participant must
demonstrate to SPP that it qualifies as one of the
following:

a.

An “appropriate person,” as defined under
Section 4(c)(3)(A) through (J) of the Commodity
Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 6(c)(3)(A) through
(J)). A Market Participant may qualify as an
“appropriate person” by providing either: (i) an
unlimited Corporate Guaranty in a form
acceptable to SPP as described in Article 6 of this
Attachment X and Appendix D of this
Attachment X from an entity that demonstrates to
SPP that it has in excess of $1 million of total net
worth or in excess of $5 million of total assets per
Market Participant for which that guarantor has
issued an unlimited Corporate Guaranty, or or (ii)
Irrevocable Letter of Credit letter of credit in
amount of $5 million or greater in a form
Participant acknowledges is separate from, and
cannot be applied to meet, its credit requirements
under this Attachment X., or (iii) a Surety Bond

b.

An “eligible contract participant,” as defined in
Section 1a(18) of the Commodity Exchange Act
(7 U.S.C. § 1a(18)) and in the Commodity
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Futures Trading Commission’s regulation 1.3(m)
(17 C.F.R. § 1.3(m))

c.

A person or entity that is in the business of: (1)
generating, transmitting or distributing electric
energy or (2) providing electric services that are
necessary to support the reliable operation of the
transmission system (78 Fed. Reg. 19880, page
19914).

For purposes of meeting the minimum criteria for
market participation under this Credit Policy, SPP
shall accept annual audited Financial Statements
prepared according to either United States Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP) or
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
If a Market Participant is unable to meet the
minimum eligibility requirements for market
participation set forth in this Section 3.1.1.8.1, the
Market Participant shall immediately notify SPP and
immediately cease conducting transactions in the
Integrated Marketplace. When SPP receives such
notification from a Market Participant or determines
that a Market Participant does not meet the minimum
eligibility requirements set forth in this Section
3.1.1.8.1, SPP shall immediately terminate that
Market Participant’s transaction rights in the
Integrated Marketplace.

In the event that a Market Participant is no longer
able to demonstrate that it meets the minimum
eligibility requirements set forth in this Section
3.1.1.8.1, and possesses, obtains, or has rights to
possess or obtain any open or forward position in the
Integrated Marketplace, SPP may take any action it
deems necessary with respect to such open or
forward positions. Such action may include but is not
limited to, liquidation, transfer, assignment, or sale.
The Market Participant will be entitled to any
positive market value of such positions, net of any
obligations due to SPP, notwithstanding its
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ineligibility to participate in the Integrated
Marketplace. Nothing in this paragraph shall restrict
SPP's ability to enforce SPP's rights to pursue and
collect any amounts Market Participants may owe to
SPP.
3.1.1.8.2

Minimum Capitalization Requirements
Each Market Participant that meets the minimum
eligibility requirements in Section 3.1.1.8.1 shall
also, at a minimum, possess:
a.

b.

c.
d.

e.

A Tangible Net Worth of One Million
Dollars ($1,000,000) as shown in the most
recent fiscal year end audited financial
statements as described in Section 3.1.1.1; or
Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) in assets
as shown in the most recent fiscal year end
audited financial statement as described in
Section 3.1.1.1; or
A Credit Rating of, or equivalent to, BBB-;
or
A Guaranty as described in Article Six of this
Attachment X, and approved by SPP, through
which the audited financials or Credit Rating
of the Guarantor is used to meet at least one
of the alternatives specified in (a) through (c)
above; or
In the event a Market Participant cannot meet
at least one of the alternatives specified in (a)
through (d) above, the Market Participant
shall, at a minimum, deposit with SPP Two
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) in
Financial Security to be segregated and
unavailable to secure any market or
transmission activity. Pursuant to election of
this alternative, if the anticipated activity at
time of application or actual market activity
as determined in Article Five, of the Market
Participant exceeds One Hundred Thousand
Dollars ($100,000) in Market Exposure, the
Market Participant shall provide SPP twice
the amount of Financial Security that would
otherwise be required of the Market
Participant pursuant to Section 4.4.

100 of 171

If the applying Market Participant is unable to meet
the minimum capitalization requirements in this
Section 3.1.1.8.2, the applying Market Participant
shall be declined participation in all SPP markets.
Failure at any time of a Market Participant to
continue to satisfy these minimum capitalization
requirements in this Section 3.1.1.8.2 shall be
deemed a Material Adverse Change pursuant to
Section 3.2.7.
3.1.1.9

Minimum Criteria and Risk Management Verification Process
Through a periodic compliance verification process, SPP shall
review and verify Market Participants’ eligibility for market
participation based upon SPP’s minimum criteria for market
participation, risk management policies, practices, and procedures
pertaining to the Market Participants’ activities in the SPP markets.
Such review shall include verification that:
1.
2.

3.
4.

5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

The risk management framework is documented in a risk
policy addressing market, credit, and liquidity risks;
The Market Participant maintains an organizational structure
with clearly defined roles and responsibilities that clearly
segregates trading and risk management functions;
There is clarity of authority specifying the types of
transactions into which traders are allowed to enter;
The Market Participant has requirements that traders have
adequate training or expertise relative to their authority in
the systems and SPP markets in which they transact;
As appropriate, risk limits are in place to control risk
exposures;
Reporting is in place to ensure that risks and exceptions are
adequately communicated throughout the organization;
Processes are in place for qualified independent review of
trading activities; and
As appropriate, there is periodic valuation or mark-to-market
of risk positions.
The Market Participant meets the minimum participation
criteria, including capitalization requirements, set forth in
Section 3.1.1.8.

SPP may select Market Participants for review on a random basis
and/or based on identified risk factors such as, but not limited to, the
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SPP markets in which the Market Participant is transacting, the
magnitude of the Market Participant’s transactions, or the volume of
the Market Participant’s open positions. Those Market Participants
notified by SPP that they have been selected for review shall, upon
fourteen (14) calendar days notice, provide a copy of their current
governing risk control policies, procedures, and controls applicable
to their SPP market activities and shall also provide such further
information or documentation pertaining to the Market Participants’
activities in the SPP markets as SPP may reasonably request.
Market Participants selected for risk management verification
through a random process and satisfactorily verified by SPP shall be
excluded from such verification process based on a random
selection for the subsequent two years. SPP shall annually randomly
select for review no more than twenty percent (20%) of the Market
Participants.
Each selected Market Participant’s continued eligibility to
participate in the SPP markets is conditioned upon SPP notifying the
Market Participant of successful completion of SPP’s verification,
provided, however, that if SPP notifies the Market Participant in
writing that it could not successfully complete the verification
process, SPP shall allow such Market Participant fourteen (14)
calendar days to provide sufficient evidence for verification prior to
declaring the Market Participant as ineligible to continue to
participate in SPP’s markets, which declaration shall be in writing
with an explanation of why SPP could not complete the verification.
If, prior to the expiration of such fourteen (14) calendar days, the
Market Participant demonstrates to SPP that it has filed with the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission an appeal of SPP’s risk
management verification determination, then the Market Participant
shall retain its transaction rights, pending the Commission’s
determination on the Market Participant’s appeal. SPP may retain
outside expertise to perform the review and verification function
described in this section. SPP and any third party it may retain will
treat as confidential the documentation provided by a Market
Participant under this section, consistent with the applicable
provisions of the Tariff.

3.1.2

Rating Agency Information. In the initial Credit Assessment and in subsequent
and ongoing assessments, SPP will consider Rating Agency reports applicable to
the Credit Customer. This review will be focused on the Credit Customer’s
unsecured, senior long-term debt ratings. If these ratings are not available, SPP
will consider issuer ratings.
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3.1.3

Power Supply Agent Disclosure Requirements. A Not-For-Profit Credit
Customer may request that its suggested Unsecured Credit Allowance calculation
reflect as equity the outstanding balance of revenue bonds issued by the Not-ForProfit Credit Customer when such revenue bonds are issued solely in support of the
Not-For-Profit Credit Customer’s role as power supply agent for not-for-profit
electric distribution utilities. In support of such request, the Not-For-Profit Credit
Customer must provide SPP with the following information:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Management representation letter stating:
(i)

Principal amount, in dollars, of revenue bonds outstanding;

(ii)

Prior to default and after default, debt service on the revenue bonds
is payable only after operating expenses are paid;

(iii)

Amounts payable to SPP under this Tariff are operating expenses
for purposes of the revenue bonds; and

(iv)

The trustee for the revenue bonds has a valid and binding security
interest in the revenues or net revenues from the power supply
contracts to secure payment of the revenue bonds and the Not-ForProfit Customer has not granted any lien thereon prior to the lien of
the bond resolution.

Opinion of counsel stating:
(i)

The power supply contracts are binding obligations of the Not-ForProfit Credit Customer enforceable in accordance with their terms;

(ii)

The trustee of the revenue bonds has a valid and binding security
interest in, or assignment and pledge of, the revenues or net revenues
from the power supply contracts to secure payment of the revenue
bonds;

(iii)

The resolution or other document creating the security interest or
pledge and providing for the priority of payment is enforceable in
accordance with its terms;

(iv)

Prior to default and after default, debt service on the revenue bonds
is payable only after operating expenses are paid; and

(v)

All amounts payable to SPP arising from transactions under this
Tariff are operating expenses for purposes of the revenue bonds.

All Rating Agency ratings on revenue bond(s).
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The opinion of counsel referenced above shall be provided to SPP together with
copies of the most recent written opinions of counsel, if any, for each member of
the Not-For-Profit Credit Customer that relate to the enforceability of the power
supply contract(s).

3.1.4

3.2.

Guaranties. If the Credit Customer proposes a Guaranty to establish, contribute
to, or maintain an Unsecured Credit Allowance, Credit Information required under
Section 3.1.1 must be submitted with respect to both the Credit Customer and the
proposed Guarantor.

Annual and Other Ongoing Credit Assessments.

3.2.1

Purpose of Annual and Other Ongoing Credit Assessments. At least once
annually, SPP will review and update its Credit Assessment for each Credit
Customer. This will include a review of the Credit Customer’s creditworthiness
and consideration of revisions of the Credit Customer’s (a) Unsecured Credit
Allowance; (b) Financial Security requirements; and (c) Total Credit Limit. In its
sole discretion, SPP may conduct additional reviews and updates, including reviews
in response to new facts or occurrences that may bear upon the Credit Customer’s
creditworthiness. Unless otherwise stated, all annual information required under
Section 3.2 shall be provided to SPP no later than 120 days after the end of the
Credit Customer’s fiscal year.

3.2.2

Procedures for Posting Additional Financial Security or Taking Other
Corrective Measures. In the event a Credit Customer experiences a Material
Adverse Change, SPP may invoke its right to require the Credit Customer to post
additional Financial Security, cease one or more transactions, or take other
measures to restore confidence in the Credit Customer’s ability to transact safely.
In addition, based upon the annual or other Credit Assessment, SPP may, at any
time, revise any (a) Unsecured Credit Allowance; (b) Financial Security
requirements; and (c) Total Credit Limit, applicable to the Credit Customer. If SPP
has upwardly revised the required amount of Financial Security, the Credit
Customer will have two (2) Business Days from receipt of the notice from SPP to
provide the required Financial Security, in an amount and form acceptable to SPP.
Failure to provide additional required Financial Security shall be a Default under
this Credit Policy and a default under the Tariff.
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3.2.3

Rating Agency Information. The Credit Customer will give notice to SPP of any
changes to its Credit Ratings within five (5) Business Days of the announcement of
the change.

3.2.4

Financial Statements. On an annual basis, and except as otherwise stated with
respect to quarterly reports, each Credit Customer must provide SPP with updated
Financial Statements within ten (10) days after they become available, and in no
event later than 120 days after the end of the Credit Customer’s fiscal year.
Quarterly reports must be provided quarterly, within ten (10) days after they
become available. Financial Statements may be submitted in the manner provided
under Section 3.1.1.1.

3.2.5

Power Supply Agent Disclosure Requirements. A Not-For-Profit Credit
Customer that initially qualified to have its suggested Unsecured Credit Allowance
calculation reflect as equity the outstanding balance of revenue bonds issued by the
Not-For-Profit Credit Customer, and is requesting to continue to have its suggested
Unsecured Credit Allowance calculation reflect as equity the outstanding balance
of revenue bonds issued by the Not-For-Profit Credit Customer when such revenue
bonds are issued solely in support of the Not-For-Profit Credit Customer’s role as
power supply agent for not-for-profit electric distribution utilities, must at all times
comply with the following information reporting requirements:

(a)

The Not-For-Profit Credit Customer must advise SPP of the principal
amount of revenue bonds outstanding on an annual basis;

(b)

The Not-For-Profit Credit Customer must advise SPP within ten (10) days
if the principal amount of the revenue bonds outstanding is reduced by more
than twenty percent (20%) from the amount last certified by the Not-ForProfit Credit Customer;

(c)

The Not-For-Profit Credit Customer must advise SPP immediately if the
security interest of the trustee is released or the Not-For-Profit Credit
Customer grants any lien prior to the lien of the bond resolution; and

(d)

The Not-For-Profit Credit Customer must advise SPP within ten (10) days
of any downgrade of any of the Not-For-Profit Credit Customer’s revenue
bond ratings issued by a Rating Agency.
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3.2.6

Other Credit Information. On an annual basis, each Credit Customer must
provide SPP with the information specified in Section 3.1.1.3 (Loss Contingencies),
3.1.1.4 (Affiliates), 3.1.1.6 (Additional Information).

3.2.7

Material Adverse Changes. Each Credit Customer must give SPP notice of any
Material Adverse Change in its financial condition (and, as applicable, the financial
condition of its Guarantor) within two (2) Business Days of the occurrence of the
Material Adverse Change. If a Credit Customer or Guarantor files a Form 10-K,
Form 10-Q, or Form 8-K with the SEC, notice of such filing, timely delivered to
SPP in accordance herewith, will suffice on the condition that such notice states
that the filing addresses a Material Adverse Change.
A Material Adverse Change in financial condition includes any Material change in
operations or financial condition that a reasonable examiner of creditworthiness
would deem material to decisions concerning the extension of credit, including but
not limited to, any of the following (“Material Adverse Change”):
a.

A downgrade of any debt rating or issuer rating, or change in the outlook of
any Credit Rating, including debt rating or issuer rating;

b.

Any placement on a credit watch with negative implication by a Rating
Agency;

c.

The filing of a lawsuit or initiation of an arbitration, investigation or other
proceeding (including regulatory proceeding) which if decided adversely
could have a Material effect on any current or future financial results or
financial condition;

d.

The merger, acquisition or any other form of business combination
involving the credit customer.

e.

Any adverse changes in financial condition which, individually, or in the
aggregate, are Material;

f.

Any adverse changes, events or occurrences which, individually or in the
aggregate, could affect the ability of the Credit Customer to pay its debts as
they become due or could have a Material adverse effect on any current or
future financial results or financial condition;

g.

Discovery or disclosure of conflict of interest issues;

h.

Resignation or removal of a key officer or director;
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i.

Any action requiring the filing of a Form 8-K;

j.

Any report of a quarterly or annual loss or a decline in earnings of ten (10)
percent or greater compared to the prior period;

k.

Any restatement of prior financial statements; and

l.

Failure of a Market Participant to continue to satisfy the minimum
capitalization criteria for market participation specified in 3.1.1.8.2.

3.2.7.1

Notification of a Material Adverse Change by SPP to a Credit
Customer. Upon the occurrence of a Material Adverse Change and
prior to SPP compelling a Credit Customer to post additional
Financial Security, cease one or more transactions, or take other
measures to restore confidence in the Credit Customer’s ability to
transact business safely as a result of any Material Adverse Change,
SPP shall provide, when feasible, reasonable advance notice in
writing, by fax, electronic mail, hand delivery, reputable overnight
courier, or first-class mail, to the Credit Contact designated by the
Credit Customer pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Credit Policy. If
delivery to the Credit Contact fails, then SPP may effect delivery to
any officer, executive, or manager of the Credit Customer. Such
notice shall identify the reasoning behind the invocation of the
Material Adverse Change clause and be signed by an authorized
representative of SPP.

3.2.8

Affiliates. Each Credit Customer must identify all Affiliates that are Credit
Customers.

3.2.9

Additional Information. At any time and from time to time, SPP may request
such additional information as SPP determines is necessary and appropriate for the
Credit Assessment and the Credit Customer shall timely provide such additional
information. At any time, the Credit Customer may provide SPP with additional
information that the Credit Customer considers relevant to the Credit Assessment.

3.2.10 Guaranties. If the Credit Customer relies upon a Guaranty to maintain an
Unsecured Credit Allowance, Credit Information required under Section 3.2 must
be submitted with respect to both the Credit Customer and the Guarantor.

3.2.11 Alternate Requirements. For Not-For-Profit Credit Customers, some of the above
financial submittals may not be applicable, and alternate requirements may be
specified by SPP.
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3.2.12 In the credit evaluation of Not-For-Profit Credit Customers, SPP may request
additional information as part of the overall financial review process and will
consider other relevant factors in determining financial strength and
creditworthiness.

3.3

SPP Rights to Use Other Information. Notwithstanding any provision of this Credit
Policy, SPP shall have the right to utilize, in a Credit Assessment, any information of which
it is aware concerning the Credit Customer.

3.4

Positive Material Change in Financial Condition of the Credit Customer. If there is a
positive Material change in the financial condition of the Credit Customer, a significant
reduction in the Total Potential Exposure of the Credit Customer, or any other change that
the Credit Customer believes may warrant an increase in the Credit Customer’s Unsecured
Credit Allowance and/or a reduction in the Financial Security required of the Credit
Customer, the Credit Customer may make a written request to SPP to update the Credit
Assessment and include or refer to any supporting information. SPP may request any
Credit Information described in Section 3.2 to evaluate the merit of the Credit Customer’s
request. SPP anticipates that it will respond to the Credit Customer’s request within a
reasonable period of time, generally within ten (10) Business Days after receiving all
information that is required for an ongoing review as required in this Article.
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ARTICLE FOUR
Creditworthiness and Total Credit Limit
4.1

Creditworthiness Overview. SPP will establish a Total Potential Exposure for each
Credit Customer based on the Credit Customer’s estimated cumulative financial obligation
arising under the Tariff or otherwise to SPP, excluding Transmission Congestion Rights
activity, as provided in Article 5. The Total Potential Exposure is the amount that the
Credit Customer must support with credit. Transmission Congestion Rights activity must
be supported with Financial Security as provided in Article 5A. The credit will consist of
a combination of the Unsecured Credit Allowance and Financial Security, or either of them.
SPP will determine the Credit Customer’s Unsecured Credit Allowance based upon the
Composite Credit Score. The Composite Credit Score, as defined herein, is a determination
of financial strength and creditworthiness, based upon the Credit Assessment. Where
Credit Customers are Affiliates of each other, an aggregate Unsecured Credit Allowance
will be established for the Affiliates, as provided below. Financial Security is an
Irrevocable Letter of Credit or other collateral in accordance with this Credit Policy. If the
Credit Customer’s Unsecured Credit Allowance is less than its Total Potential Exposure,
the Credit Customer will be required either to establish additional credit in the amount of
the difference by posting Financial Security or to decrease its Total Potential Exposure. A
Credit Customer’s total credit with SPP, consisting of the Unsecured Credit Allowance and
any Financial Security, is the Credit Customer’s Total Credit Limit. A Credit Customer
may provide additional Financial Security at any time to increase or maintain its Total
Credit Limit, for example, in order to increase its Total Potential Exposure or to
compensate for a reduction in its Unsecured Credit Allowance.

4.2

Composite Credit Score. The “Composite Credit Score” is the numerical result of SPP’s
scoring process based upon various quantitative and qualitative predictors of
creditworthiness as set forth in this Section. The results are scaled from one (1) to six (6)
with one (1) being the strongest score and six (6) being the weakest. Key factors in the
scoring process include financial ratios, years in business, and Credit Ratings. SPP will
apply all measures used to determine Composite Credit Scores in a consistent manner. The
respective models SPP will use to determine the Composite Credit Score for Large
Company Credit Customers, Small Company Credit Customers, and Not-For-Profit Credit
Customers are set forth in this Section.
4.2.1

Large Company Credit Scoring. The Large Company Credit Customer model
will be utilized for Credit Customers with net fixed assets equal to or in excess of
$250 million (“Large Company Credit Customers” or “Large Company”). The
Large Company Credit Score will be comprised of a Quantitative Score and a
Qualitative Score. Each score is then weighted as shown below to build a
Composite Credit Score.
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Large Company Analysis
Quantitative Score
Qualitative Score
4.2.1.1

Weight
70%
30%

Quantitative Score. The Quantitative Score is based on the
financial ratios below. These measures will be calculated for each
Large-Company Credit Customer and compared with benchmarks
to assign a score of one (1) to six (6) for each measure. A score of
one (1) indicates that the Credit Customer has a strong financial
health with regard to the measure, while a score of six (6) indicates
poor financial health with regard to the measure. The following
measures are used:
a.

Current Ratio—Current Assets/Current Liabilities

b.

EBIT Interest Coverage—(Interest Expense + Income Taxes
+ Net Income) / Interest Expense

c.

Total Debt to Total Capitalization (“TD/TC”)—(Long Term
Debt + Current Portion + Other Short Term Borrowings) /
(Total Debt + Preferred Equity + Common Equity)

d.

Funds from Operations (“FFO”) to Total Debt—(Cash from
Operating Activities - Changes in Operating Assets and
Liabilities) / (Long Term Debt + Current Portion + Other
Short Term Borrowings)

The measures are then assessed as follows to calculate the total
Quantitative Score:
Scale
Current
EBIT Interest TD/TC
FFO to Total Debt
1 >1.34
>4.99
<.30
>.350
2 1.15 – 1.34
3.50 – 4.99
.30 - .39
.271 - .350
3 1.00 – 1.14
2.50 – 3.49
.40 - .49
.181 - .270
4 0.85 – 0.99
2.00 – 2.49
.50 - .59
.120 - .180
5 0.70 – 0.84
1.25 – 1.99
.60 - .69
.070 - .119
6 <0.70
<1.25
>.69
<.070

The measures are weighted as follows:
Large Company Financial Ratios
Current Ratio
EBIT Interest Coverage
Total Debt to Total Capitalization
FFO to Total Debt

Weight
10%
25%
25%
40%
100%
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If one or more ratios cannot be calculated due to insufficient data to
calculate the ratio, the weight that would have been assigned to that
ratio or ratios will be allocated equally among the remaining ratios.
4.2.1.2

Qualitative Score. The Qualitative Score, also on a scale of one (1)
to six (6), will assess non-financial measure information about a
Credit Customer’s creditworthiness. A score of one (1) indicates
that the Credit Customer has strong qualitative measures, while a
score of six (6) indicates poor qualitative measures. The qualitative
analysis will take into account a variety of information, but at a
minimum will include the assessment of the following
characteristics:
-Management
-Regional / Commodity Diversity
-Physical Liquidity
-Financial Liquidity
-Quality of Equity
-Volatility of Earnings
-Regulation/Rates
-Senior Unsecured Debt Rating
-SPP Payment Record
-Risk Procedures

4.2.1.3

Composite Credit Score. The Composite Credit Score is the
weighted average of the Quantitative Score and the Qualitative
Score. To illustrate, assume the following:
Large Company Qualitative Score = 4.0
Large Company Financial Measures:

Current Ratio
EBIT Interest Coverage
Total Debt to Total Capitalization
FFO to Total Debt

Value
.82
2.08
.63
.17

Score
5
4
5
4

Weight
10%
25%
25%
40%

Large Company Quantitative Score =
(5 x 10%) + (4 x 25%) + (5 x 25%) + (4 x 40%) = 4.35
Large Company Credit Score = (4.35 x 70%) + (4 x 30%) = 4.25
4.2.2

Small Company Credit Scoring. The Small Company model will be utilized for
Credit Customers with net fixed assets less than $250 million (“Small Company
Credit Customers” or “Small Company”). The Small Company Composite Credit
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Score will be comprised of a Quantitative Score and a Qualitative Score. Each
score is then weighted as shown below to build a Composite Credit Score.
Small Company Analysis
Quantitative Score
Qualitative Score
4.2.2.1

Weight
70%
30%

Quantitative Score. The Quantitative Score is based on the
financial ratios below. These measures will be calculated for each
Small Company Credit Customer and compared with benchmarks
to assign a score of one (1) to six (6) for each measure. A score of
one (1) indicates that the Credit Customer has a strong financial
health with regard to the measure, while a score of six (6) indicates
poor financial health with regard to the measure. The following
measures are used:
a.

Current Ratio—Current Assets/Current Liabilities

b.

EBIT Interest Coverage—(Interest Expense + Income Taxes
+ Net Income) / Interest Expense

c.

Total Liabilities to Total Net Worth (“TL/TNW”)—(Total
Liabilities) / (Total Equity-Intangibles-Treasury Stock)

d.

Funds from Operations (“FFO”) to Total Debt—(Cash from
Operating Activities - Changes in Operating Assets and
Liabilities) / (Long Term Debt + Current Portion + Other
Short Term Borrowings)

e.

Return on Assets (“ROA”)—Net Income / Total Assets

The values are then assessed as follows to calculate the total
Quantitative Score:
Scale Current
1
2
3
4
5
6

>2.50
1.75 – 2.50
1.40 – 1.74
1.15 – 1.39
1.00 – 1.14
<1.00

EBIT Interest TL/TNW
>4.99
3.50 – 4.99
2.50 – 3.49
2.00 – 2.49
1.25 – 1.99
<1.25

FFO to Total Debt

<0.40
0.40 - 0.70
0.71 – 1.49
1.50 – 2.25
2.26 – 4.00
>4.00

>.350
.271-.350
.181 - .270
.120 - .18
.070 - .119
<.070

ROA
>.120
.100 - .120
.075 - .099
.045 - .074
.015 - .044
<.015

The measures are weighted as follows:
Small Company Financial Ratios
Current Ratio
EBIT Interest Coverage
Total Liabilities / Total Net Worth

Weight
25%
10%
25%
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FFO to Total Debt
ROA

15%
25%
100%

If one or more ratios cannot be calculated due to insufficient data to
calculate the ratio, the weight that would have been assigned to that
ratio or ratios will be allocated equally among the remaining ratios.
4.2.2.2

Qualitative Score. The Qualitative Score, also on a scale of one (1)
to six (6), will assess non-financial measure information about a
Credit Customer’s creditworthiness. A score of one (1) indicates
that the Credit Customer has strong qualitative measures, while a
score of six (6) indicates poor qualitative measures. The qualitative
analysis will take into account a variety of information, but at a
minimum will include the assessment of the following
characteristics:
-Management
-Regional / Commodity Diversity
-Physical Liquidity
-Financial Liquidity
-Quality of Equity
-Volatility of Earnings
-Regulation/Rates
-Peer Comparison using SIC codes
-Senior Unsecured Debt Rating
-SPP Payment Record

4.2.2.3

Composite Credit Score. The Composite Credit Score is the
weighted average of the Quantitative Score and the Qualitative
Score. To illustrate, assume the following:
Small Company Qualitative Score = 4
Small Company Financial Measures:

Current Ratio
EBIT Interest Coverage
Total Liabilities / Total Net Worth
FFO to Total Debt
ROA

Value
1.10
1855.00
2.47
0.03
0.02

Score
5
1
5
6
5

Weight
25%
10%
25%
15%
25%

Small Company Quantitative Score =
(5 x 25%) + (1 x 10%) + (5 x 25%) + (6 x 15%) + (5 x 25%) = 4.75
Small Company Credit Score =
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(4.75 x 70%) + (4 x 30%) = 4.53
4.2.3

Not-For-Profit Credit Scoring. The Not-For-Profit model will be utilized for
Credit Customers who are not structured to generate profits for investors (“NotFor-Profit Credit Customers” or “Not-For-Profit”), including electric cooperatives,
municipalities, and government agencies. The Not-For-Profit Composite Credit
Score will be comprised of a Quantitative Score and a Qualitative Score. The lower
of the Composite Credit Score calculated using two alternative weights for the
Quantitative Score and the Qualitative Score as shown below shall be used in
determining the allocation of the Not-For-Profit Credit Customer’s Unsecured
Credit Allowance.

Not For Profit Credit Customer Analysis
Alternative 1
40%
60%

Quantitative Score
Qualitative Score

4.2.3.1

Weight
Alternative 2
50%
50%

Quantitative Score. The Quantitative Score is based on the
financial ratios below. These measures will be calculated for each
Not-For-Profit Credit Customer and compared with benchmarks to
assign a score of one (1) to six (6) for each measure. A score of one
(1) indicates that the Credit Customer has a strong financial health
with regard to the measure, while a score of six (6) indicates poor
financial health with regard to the measure. The following
measures, or their substantive equivalents for not-for-profit entities,
are used:
a.

Current Ratio (“CR”)—Current Assets / Current Liabilities

b.

Debt Service Coverage (“DSC”)—(Operating Income +
Interest Expense + Depreciation + Interest Income + Cash
Portion of Capital Credits - Onetime Charges)/(Interest
Expense + Debt Amortization)

c.

Times Interest Earned Ratio (“TIER”)—(Interest Expense +
Patronage Capital or Margins or Changes in Net Assets) /
(Interest Expense)

d.

Total Debt to Total Capitalization (“TD/TC”)—(Long Term
Debt + Current Portion + Other Short Term Borrowings) /
(Total Debt + Preferred Equity + Common Equity).
Members’ Equity could also be called Net Assets or
Patronage Capital.
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The values are then assessed as follows to calculate the total
Quantitative Score:
Not-For-Profit Credit Customer Model Ratio Scales
Scale
1
2
3
4
5
6

CR
>1.34
1.15 – 1.34
1.00 – 1.14
0.85 – 0.99
0.70 – 0.84
<0.70

DSC
>1.99
1.50 – 1.99
1.00 – 1.49
0.80 – 0.99
0.60 – 0.79
<0.60

TIER
>2.00
1.50 – 2.00
1.00 – 1.49
0.80 – 0.99
0.50 – 0.79
<0.50

TD/TC
<.50
.51 - .74
.75 - .85
.86 - .93
.94 - .99
>.99

The measures are weighted as follows:
Not-For-Profit Credit Customer Financial Ratios Weight
Current Ratio
15%
Debt Service Coverage
35%
Times Interest Earned Ratio
20%
Total Debt / Total Capitalization
30%
100%
If one or more ratios cannot be calculated due to insufficient data to
calculate the ratio, the weight that would have been assigned to that ratio or
ratios will be allocated equally among the remaining ratios.
4.2.3.2

Qualitative Score. The Qualitative Score, also on a scale of one (1)
to six (6), will assess non-financial measure information about a
Credit Customer’s creditworthiness. A score of one (1) indicates
that the Credit Customer has strong qualitative measures, while a
score of six (6) indicates poor qualitative measures. The qualitative
analysis will take into account a variety of information, but at a
minimum will include the assessment of the following
characteristics:
-Regulation/Rates
-Terms of wholesale power contracts
-Customer count served
-Power supply portfolio (e.g., contracts, assets, etc)
-Management
-Ability to access short-term capital
-Senior Unsecured Debt Rating
-SPP Payment Record

4.2.3.3

Composite Credit Score. The Composite Credit Score is the
weighted average of the Quantitative Score and the Qualitative
Score. To illustrate, assume the following:
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Not-For-Profit Qualitative Score = 2
Not-For-Profit Financial Measures:

Current Ratio
Debt Service Coverage
Times Interest Earned Ratio
Total Debt / Total Capitalization

Value
1.42
1.17
0.73
1.50

Score
1
3
5
6

Weight
15%
35%
20%
30%

Not-For-Profit Quantitative Score =
(1 x 15%) + (3 x 35%) + (5 x 20%) + (6 x 30%) = 4.00
Not-For-Profit Credit Score =
(4.00 x 40%) + (2.0 x 60%) = 2.80 using Alternative 1, or;
(4.00 x 50%) + (2.0 x 50%) = 3.00 using Alternative 2.
The lower Composite Credit Score resulting from utilizing the two alternatives is 2.80,
so it will be the Composite Credit Score used in allocating this Not-For-Profit Credit
Customer’s Unsecured Credit Allowance as described in Section 4.3 below.
4.3

Unsecured Credit Allowance.
The Composite Credit Score is converted into an “Unsecured Credit Allowance,” which
is a percentage of Tangible Net Worth. (Tangible Net Worth = Total Equity – Intangibles
– Treasury Stock). The Composite Credit Score is a numeric value on a scale of one (1) to
six (6) with one (1) indicating stronger creditworthiness and six (6) indicating weaker
creditworthiness. The conversion into an Unsecured Credit Allowance is based on the
percentage values stated in Table 1.
Table 1

Composite Credit
Score
1.00 - 1.99
2.00 - 2.99
3.00 - 3.59
3.60 - 4.39
4.40 - 4.99
5.00 - 6.00

% Tangible Net Worth
Small Company
Model
5.00%
3.00%
2.00%
0.75%
0.25%
0%

% Tangible Net
Worth Large
Company Model
5.00%
3.00%
2.00%
0.75%
0.25%
0%

% Tangible Net Worth
Not For Profit Model
7.500%
4.500%
3.000%
1.125%
0.375%
0.000%

To illustrate, a Large Company Credit Customer with a Composite Credit Score of 4.36
and Tangible Net Worth of $501,468,000 would have a suggested Unsecured Credit
Allowance calculated as follows:
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Unsecured Credit Allowance = Table 1 Percentage x Tangible Net Worth
= 0.75% x $501,468,000
= $3,761,010
4.3.1

Revenue Bond Adjustment to Tangible Net Worth Value for Power Supply
Agents. For Not-For-Profit Credit Customers that issue revenue bonds solely in
support of their role as power supply agent for not-for-profit electric distribution
utilities and meet: (a) the disclosure requirements in: (i) Section 3.1.3 of this Credit
Policy and (ii) Section 3.2.5 of this Credit Policy; and (b) have a revenue bond
rating or revenue bond ratings equal to or better than Baa1 issued by Moody’s
Investor Services or BBB+ issued by Standard & Poor’s, the calculation of the
suggested Unsecured Credit Allowance shall be based on an adjusted value for
Tangible Net Worth. The adjusted value for Tangible Net Worth shall include the
outstanding balance of revenue bonds as of the date of the calculation.
To illustrate, if the Not-For-Profit Credit Customer met all of the disclosure
requirements for power supply agents, had a Tangible Net Worth of $2,000,000,
and had $8,000,000 principal amount of revenue bonds outstanding, the adjusted
Tangible Net Worth to be used in computing the suggested Unsecured Credit
Allowance would be $10,000,000 (the sum of the adjusted Tangible Net Worth and
the principal amount of revenue bonds outstanding as of the date of the calculation).

4.3.2

Maximum and Minimum Unsecured Credit Allowances. Notwithstanding the
calculation under Section 4.3:
4.3.2.1

No Credit Customer shall have an Unsecured Credit Allowance in
excess of $50 million; and

4.3.2.2

On the condition that a Not-For-Profit provides all required Credit
Information and executes all documents required under this Credit
Policy, and subject to the Default provisions of this Credit Policy, a
Not-For-Profit Credit Customer shall have a minimum Unsecured
Credit Allowance in the amount of $250 thousand.

4.3.3

Guaranty. In the event that the Credit Customer has a Guaranty, the Unsecured
Credit Allowance will be based on the Credit Assessments of the Credit Customer
and the Guarantor.

4.3.4

Unsecured Credit Allowance for Affiliates.
4.3.4.1

Determination of Creditworthiness of Combined Affiliates. If
two or more Credit Customers are Affiliates, and each is granted an
Unsecured Credit Allowance and a corresponding Total Credit
Limit, SPP will consider the overall creditworthiness of the
Affiliated Credit Customers when determining the Unsecured Credit
Allowances in order not to grant more unsecured credit than the
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overall group of affiliated entities could support. SPP will work
with Affiliated Credit Customers to allocate the total Unsecured
Credit Allowance among the Affiliates while assuring that no
individual Credit Customer, nor common guarantor, exceeds the
Unsecured Credit Allowance appropriate for its credit strength. A
$50 million maximum Unsecured Credit Allowance shall apply to
all Affiliates as though the Affiliates are a single Credit Customer.
Example: Credit Customers A and B each have a $10.0 million
Guaranty from their common parent, a holding company with an
Unsecured Credit Allowance calculation of $12.0 million. SPP may
limit the Unsecured Credit Allowance for each Credit Customer to
$6.0 million, so the total Unsecured Credit Allowance does not
exceed the corporate total of $12.0 million.
4.3.4.2

4.3.5

4.4

Guaranty. If the Guaranty is applicable to Affiliates (i.e., more than
one Credit Customer), then the Unsecured Credit Allowance of the
Guarantor shall be allocated among such Affiliates and the
applicable allocation shall be utilized in determining each Affiliated
Credit Customer’s Unsecured Credit Allowance.

Continuous Right to Modify. SPP has the right at any time to modify any
Unsecured Credit Allowance and/or require additional Financial Security as may
be reasonably necessary to support the Credit Customer’s ability to pay for
Transmission Service and any market services SPP may provide. If the
modification results in a reduction or revocation of Unsecured Credit Allowance
and the reduction or revocation results in the need to provide Financial Security,
then the rights and duties of SPP and the Credit Customer shall be as set forth in
Section 3.2.2.

Financial Security Requirement. If a Credit Customer (i) is denied an Unsecured Credit
Allowance, or (ii) is granted an Unsecured Credit Allowance that is below its Total
Potential Exposure calculated pursuant to Article 5, then the Credit Customer may submit
Financial Security to cover or exceed the difference in the amount of the Unsecured Credit
Allowance granted to the Credit Customer and the amount of its Total Potential Exposure.
A Credit Customer electing to satisfy the alternative criteria for market participation
specified in Section 3.1.1.8.2(e) and whose anticipated or actual market activity exceeds
One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) in Market Exposure shall provide Financial
Security that is twice the amount calculated to satisfy its Financial Security Requirement
pursuant to this Section 4.4. Any Credit Customer may provide Financial Security in lieu
of or in addition to the Unsecured Credit Allowance it was granted. Upon the Credit
Customer’s request, SPP shall provide a written explanation of how it determined the
amount of required Financial Security for that Credit Customer. A Credit Customer also
is required to submit Financial Security to cover or exceed its Total TCR Credit
Requirement pursuant to Section 5A.8.
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4.5

Total Credit Limit. The “Total Credit Limit” is the amount of any Unsecured Credit
Allowance approved by SPP for the Credit Customer, plus the amount of any Financial
Security the Credit Customer has provided to SPP. SPP shall determine the Total Credit
Limit for each Credit Customer. Upon the Credit Customer’s request, SPP shall provide a
written explanation of how it determined the Unsecured Credit Allowance and the amount
of required Financial Security for that Credit Customer. SPP will respond to the Credit
Customer’s request within five (5) Business Days.
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ARTICLE SIX
Guarantees
6.1

Guaranty. A Guaranty approved by SPP transfers to the Credit Customer a portion of the
Guarantor’s creditworthiness and thereby increases the Credit Customer’s Total Credit
Limit. Unlike an bank guaranty or Irrevocable Letter of Credit or Surety Bond, a Guaranty
is not Financial Security. A Guaranty that is backed by Financial Security will have the
same impact upon the Total Credit Limit as Financial Security. A Guaranty that is not
backed by Financial Security is unsecured and will be considered unsecured credit in the
determination of the Unsecured Credit Allowance.

6.2

Approval Process. SPP will determine whether to approve a Guaranty based upon the
creditworthiness of the proposed Guarantor as though it were a Credit Customer under this
Credit Policy. All Credit Information required under this Credit Policy with respect to a
Credit Customer must be submitted initially for the proposed Guarantor and regularly
thereafter. SPP will evaluate the Credit Information and determine any Unsecured Credit
Allowance and the Total Credit Limit for the Credit Customer beneficiary of the proposed
Guaranty. SPP shall have the right to revise the Unsecured Credit Allowance and Total
Credit Limit from time to time based upon continued assessment of the Credit Information
of the Guarantor.

6.3

Requirements for Guaranty. A Credit Customer can utilize a Guaranty if all of the
following conditions are satisfied:
6.3.1

Guarantor’s Satisfaction of Financial Standards under this Credit Policy. A
Guarantor is subject to the same financial review procedures as a Credit Customer.
A Guarantor will be eligible to provide a Guaranty to the extent, if any, of the
Guarantor’s creditworthiness under this Credit Policy.

6.3.2

The Form and Substance of the Guaranty Acceptable to SPP. Appendix “D” of
this Credit Policy is a form of Guaranty. The Guaranty must:
6.3.2.1

Be duly authorized by the Guarantor and signed by an officer of the
Guarantor

6.3.2.2

State an effective period, or provide for automatic renewal or other
basis for periodicity subject to cancellation on no less than sixty (60)
days notice and provided that in all events the Guaranty is effective
for all obligations of the Credit Customer undertaken prior to
cancellation.

6.3.2.3

Include certification of the corporate secretary that the execution,
delivery, and performance of the Guaranty have been duly
authorized;
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6.3.3
6.3.4

6.4

6.3.2.4

Certify that the Corporate Guaranty is not in violation of other
undertakings or requirements applicable to the Guarantor, and
enforceable against the Guarantor in accordance with its terms;

6.3.2.5

Obligate the Guarantor to submit Credit Information on an ongoing
basis as required under this Credit Policy;

6.3.2.6

Incorporate default provisions, including default provisions referred
to in Section 6.3.4;

6.3.2.7

Secure, in combination with other forms of Ffinancial Ssecurity, all
obligations of the Credit Customer under or in connection with this
Tariff and/or other Agreements; and

6.3.2.8

Be supported by adequate consideration and be otherwise binding
as a matter of law.

6.3.2.9

Include as an attachment thereto the resolution(s) of the board of
directors or other governing body of the Guarantor authorizing the
Corporate Guaranty.

Reserved for Future Use
Default. Any breach of the Guaranty by the Guarantor or the requirements of the
Guarantor under this Credit Policy shall be deemed a Default of this Credit Policy
and a default under the Tariff by the Guarantor and the Affiliates whose obligations
are supported by the Guaranty. The following also shall be a Default of this Credit
Policy and a default under the Tariff: (i) the Guaranty expires or terminates (other
than in accordance with its terms or upon the written consent of SPP); (ii) the
Guarantor disaffirms, disclaims, repudiates, rejects or challenges the validity of all
or any part of the Guaranty; or (iii) the Guaranty or any material provision of the
Guaranty ceases to be in full force and effect (other than in accordance with its
terms or upon the written consent of SPP).

Guaranty for Affiliates. A single Guaranty may support the Total Credit Limits of
Affiliates. With respect to such a Guaranty, the sum value of the Unsecured Credit
Allowance of all such Affiliates and the Guarantor shall not exceed the lesser of:
(i) the approved Unsecured Credit Allowance for the Guarantor based on
SPP’s financial review of Guarantor; or
(ii) $50 million.
If a Guaranty is utilized to establish an Unsecured Credit Allowance for a Credit Customer,
the value of the Guaranty shall be no greater than the lesser of:
(i) The credit limit imposed in the Guaranty; or
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(ii) The portion of the Unsecured Credit Allowance calculated for the Guarantor
that is allocated to such Credit Customer in SPP’s sole discretion; provided
that the Unsecured Credit Allowance calculated for the Guarantor may not
exceed $50 million; or
(iii) $50 million.
6.5

Guarantees for Not for Profit Credit Customers. SPP shall allow other guarantees for
Not for Profit Credit Customers so long as any guarantees for such customer satisfy the
requirements of Section 6.3. The form in Attachment D shall be used (subject to
modifications to reflect the not for profit nature of the customer and the structure of the
guarantee). An example of a permissible guarantee would be individual cities guaranteeing
the payments by a municipal energy entity.

6.6

Costs. The Credit Customer shall bear all costs of obtaining and maintaining the Guaranty.

6.7

Withdrawal. A Credit Customer or the Guarantor may request the withdrawal of the
Guaranty by written request to SPP. A Guaranty may be withdrawn and/or terminated only
upon SPP’s written approval. SPP will not approve withdrawal or termination of a
Guaranty unless and until:
(i) alternate Financial Security acceptable to SPP has been provided; or
(ii) all financial obligations of a Credit Customer under the Agreements have been
irrevocably satisfied in full, all Service Agreements have been terminated, and
the Credit Customer is no longer a Credit Customer.
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ARTICLE SEVEN
Financial Security
7.1

Acceptable Forms of Financial Security. Financial Security may be a Cash Deposit, an
or Irrevocable Letter of Credit, a Surety Bond or, for a Credit Customer that is a Federal
Power Marketing Agency, a letter as specified in Section 7.1.4 of this Article. These forms
of Financial Security may be submitted separately or in combination to equal the full
amount of any required or provided Financial Security. In addition, SPP requires the
execution of a Credit and Security Agreement (with respect to Cash Deposit, and/or
Irrevocable Letter of Credit, and/or Surety Bond).
7.1.2

Cash Deposits. A Cash Deposit will be Financial Security in accordance with this
Section.
7.1.2.1

Deposit and Related Agreements. The initial Cash Deposit must
be accompanied by execution and delivery of a Credit and Security
Agreement in the form attached to this Credit Policy as Appendix
“B.” Under the Credit and Security Agreement, the Credit Customer
shall grant to SPP a first priority security interest in and to any and
all Cash Deposits, cash collateral, and deposit accounts held or
controlled by SPP then existing or thereafter opened, and any and
all proceeds of such collateral, including, without limitation, the
cash and interest deposited therein. This security interest secures
the prompt payment when due of any and all obligations of the
Credit Customer under or in connection with the Tariff, and/or any
and all other Agreements. SPP may amend the Credit and Security
Agreement from time to time, either for general applicability or on
an individual basis. The Credit Customer will accept such
amendment and, upon request, execute an amendatory document.

7.1.2.2

Segregated Account. The Cash Deposit will be placed in a
segregated, interest bearing account in SPP’s name and held within
the sole control of SPP solely to secure the payment of the Credit
Customer’s obligations to SPP and subject to the terms and
conditions of the Credit and Security Agreement. All interest earned
will accrue to the benefit of the Credit Customer, will be added to
the segregated account, and will be deemed additional Cash Deposit;
provided, that all such accrued and unpaid interest that has not been
applied to satisfy the Credit Customer’s obligations will be released
and paid to the Credit Customer quarterly, and further provided, that
SPP shall not be obligated to pay any interest to the Credit Customer
or release any amount from the segregated account during any
uncured Default. Interest will be calculated per section 7.3 of the
Tariff.
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7.1.3

7.1.2.3

Use of Cash Deposit. In the event a Credit Customer fails to make
a payment timely to SPP, SPP may apply the Cash Deposit as
necessary to satisfy the deficit. In such event, within three (3)
Business Days, the Credit Customer must replenish the Cash
Deposit in an amount equal to SPP’s draw or in such other amount
as SPP may require under this Credit Policy and failure to replenish
shall be a Default under this Credit Policy. SPP’s application of the
Cash Deposit hereunder shall not cure the Default due to the Credit
Customer’s failure to make timely payment until and unless the
Cash Deposit is timely replenished or other Financial Security is
provided under Section 7.1.2.4.

7.1.2.4

Replacement of Cash Deposit. A Credit Customer may replace
any part of a Cash Deposit with other Financial Security acceptable
to SPP under this Credit Policy.

Irrevocable Letter of Credit. An Irrevocable Letter of Credit will be Financial
Security in accordance with this Section.
7.1.3.1

Form, Requirements, and Related Agreement. Appendix “C” of
this Credit Policy is an acceptable form of an Irrevocable Letter of
Credit. SPP may amend the form of Irrevocable Letter of Credit
from time to time, either for general applicability or on a case-bycase basis, and the Credit Customer will accept such amendment
and, upon request, execute an amendatory document. SPP may
accept an Irrevocable Letter of Credit, in its sole discretion, in
revised form. Upon the Credit Customer’s request, SPP shall
provide a written explanation of why SPP did not accept that Credit
Customer’s proposed variation to the form of Irrevocable Letter of
Credit set forth in Appendix “C” of this Credit Policy. The Credit
Customer must execute the Credit and Security Agreement with
respect to the Irrevocable Letter of Credit. Under the Credit and
Security Agreement, the Credit Customer grants SPP a first priority
security interest in and to any and all proceeds of any and all
Irrevocable Letters of Credit then existing or thereafter issued with
SPP as Beneficiary and the Credit Customer as Account Party under
the Irrevocable Letter of Credit, including, without limitation, the
cash issued upon a draw thereon. This security interest secures the
prompt payment when due of any and all obligations of the Credit
Customer to SPP, provided that the grant of a security interest shall
not diminish SPP’s rights to apply draws on the Irrevocable Letter
of Credit to pay any and all amounts due. SPP may amend the Credit
and Security Agreement from time to time, either for general
applicability or on an individual basis. The Credit Customer will
accept such amendment and, upon request, execute an amendatory
document.
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7.1.3.2

Ratings of Issuing Financial Institution. At the time of issuance
and at all times the Irrevocable Letter of Credit is outstanding, the
issuer must be a financial institution organized under the laws of the
United States or any state of the United States or the District of
Columbia or a branch or agency of a foreign commercial bank
located in the United States, with a minimum corporate debt rating
of an “A-” by S&P, “A3” by Moody’s, “A-” by Fitch or an
equivalent short-term debt rating by any of these agencies. SPP may
accept an Irrevocable Letter of Credit from a financial institution
that does not meet the debt rating requirements, provided that the
Irrevocable Letter of Credit has a confirmation of third-party
support (as governed by the Uniform Customs and Practice for
Documentary Credits – International Chamber of Commerce
Publication No. 500, Effective January 1, 1994 “UCP500” as stated
in Article 9 Section B), in a form acceptable to SPP, from a financial
institution that does meet or exceed the debt rating requirements
stated in this Section. If after the Irrevocable Letter of Credit has
been issued, the rating for the corporate debt of the financial
institution is less than “A-” by S&P, “A3” by Moody’s or “A-” by
Fitch, SPP may give the Credit Customer notice to submit substitute
Financial Security no later than three (3) Business Days after the
notice.

7.1.3.3

Costs. The applicable Credit Customer shall bear all costs of
providing and maintaining the Irrevocable Letter of Credit.

7.1.3.4

Substitution of Irrevocable Letter of Credit. The Credit
Customer may replace an Irrevocable Letter of Credit with a
substitute Irrevocable Letter of Credit, or other Financial Security in
form and amount acceptable to SPP. SPP will return the initial
Irrevocable Letter of Credit upon receipt of an effective and
acceptable substitute.

7.1.3.5

Term and Renewal. The Irrevocable Letter of Credit must
automatically renew unless the issuing financial institution provides
a notice to SPP at least ninety (90) days prior to its expiration date
stating its decision not to renew the Irrevocable Letter of Credit. If
the Irrevocable Letter of Credit is not renewed, at least ninety (90)
days prior to its stated expiration date (a “Non-Renewal Event”), the
Credit Customer must submit substitute Financial Security
acceptable to SPP, in SPP’s sole discretion, no later than eightyseven (87) days prior to the stated expiration date.

7.1.3.6

Use of Irrevocable Letter of Credit. In the event a Credit
Customer fails to make any timely payment to SPP, SPP may draw
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upon the Irrevocable Letter of Credit as necessary to satisfy any and
all amounts due from the Credit Customer pursuant to the
Agreements. In such event, within three (3) Business Days, the
Credit Customer must replenish the Irrevocable Letter of Credit or
provide SPP with other Financial Security in an amount equal to the
draw or in such other amount as SPP may require under this Credit
Policy, and failure to satisfy this requirement shall be a Default
under this Credit Policy. In the event of such failure to make timely
payment, and in addition to any other remedies available to SPP,
SPP may draw down the entire Irrevocable Letter of Credit and hold
the proceeds in an unsegregated account and apply such proceeds to
amounts owed by the Credit Customer to SPP pursuant to the
Agreements. The foregoing sentence notwithstanding, upon the
Credit Customer’s written notice of request, SPP will treat as a Cash
Deposit the proceeds of a draw over and above amounts currently
due and unpaid and transfer same to a segregated account in
accordance with such treatment, provided that the Credit Customer
has executed a Credit and Security Agreement.
7.1.4 Federal Power Marketing Agency Letter. A form of letter as described in this
Section will be Financial Security for a Federal Power Marketing Agency as that
type of entity is defined in Article Two of this Attachment X.
Credit Customers that are Federal Power Marketing Agencies may
provide Financial Security in the form of a letter, executed by an
officer of the Federal Power Marketing Agency, that: (1) attests that
the Federal Power Marketing Agency is lawfully authorized to
participate in the SPP TCR market and that any debt the Federal
Power Marketing Agency incurs due to its participation in the TCR
market is a debt of the United States; (2) identifies the current year’s
appropriations for the Federal Power Marketing Agency from the
United States Congress; and (3) verifies that the amount of the
current year’s appropriations for the Federal Power Marketing
Agency from the United States Congress meets or exceeds the
amount required to satisfy the credit requirements set forth in this
Credit Policy.
7.1.5

Surety Bond. A Surety Bond will be Financial Security in accordance with this
Section.
7.1.5.1

Form, Requirements, and Related Agreement. Appendix “F” of
this Credit Policy is an acceptable form of a Surety Bond. SPP may
amend the form of Surety Bond from time to time, either for general
applicability or on a case-by-case basis, and the Credit Customer
will accept such amendment and, upon request, execute an
amendatory document. SPP may accept a Surety Bond, in its sole
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discretion, in revised form. Upon the Credit Customer’s request,
SPP shall provide a written explanation of why SPP did not accept
that Credit Customer’s proposed variation to the form of Surety
Bond set forth in Appendix “F” of this Credit Policy. The Credit
Customer must execute the Credit and Security Agreement with
respect to the Surety Bond. Under the Credit and Security
Agreement, the Credit Customer grants SPP a first priority security
interest in and to any and all proceeds of any and all Surety Bond
then existing or thereafter issued with SPP as beneficiary and the
Credit Customer as princpal under the Surety Bond, including,
without limitation, the cash issued upon a draw thereon. This
security interest secures the prompt payment when due of any and
all obligations of the Credit Customer to SPP, provided that the grant
of a security interest shall not diminish SPP’s rights to apply draws
on the Surety Bond to pay any and all amounts due. SPP may amend
the Credit and Security Agreement from time to time, either for
general applicability or on an individual basis. The Credit Customer
will accept such amendment and, upon request, execute an
amendatory document.
7.1.5.2

Ratings of Issuing Surety. At the time of issuance and at all times
the Surety Bond is outstanding, the issuer must be a US Treasurylisted surety with a certificate of authority from the insurance
commissioner in each state in which the issuer conducts surety
business, with a minimum financial strength rating of an “A-” by
A.M. Best. If after the Surety Bond has been issued, the financial
strength rating of the surety is less than “A-” by A.M. Best, SPP may
give the Credit Customer notice to submit substitute Financial
Security no later than three (3) Business Days after the notice.

7.1.5.3

Costs. The applicable Credit Customer shall bear all costs of
providing and maintaining the Surety Bond.

7.1.5.4

Substitution of Irrevocable Surety Bond. The Credit Customer
may replace a Surety Bond with a substitute Surety Bond or other
Financial SecurityAssurance, both in form and amount acceptable
to SPP. SPP will return the initial Surety Bond upon receipt of an
effective and acceptable substitute.

7.1.5.5

Term and Renewal. The surety may terminate the Surety Bond
upon ninety (90) days written notice to SPP; provided, however,
that: (i) the surety’s liability hereunder shall survive such
termination and remain in full force and effect as to obligations
incurred by Credit Customer during the term of the Surety Bond;
and (ii) in the event that Credit Customer fails to provide an
acceptable form of replacement Financial Security to SPP at least
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eighty seven (87) days prior to the termination of the Surety Bond,
the surety shall, upon demand, without any notice other than such
demand, and without any further action by SPP deliver a Cash
Deposit to SPP not later than the next Business Day in the amount
of the full remaining value of the Surety Bond as Financial Security
for Credit Customer’s obligations to SPP.
7.1.5.6

Limits on Use of Surety Bonds.
a)
To be eligible to provide Surety Bonds on behalf of a Credit
Customer the applicable surety must have a Tangible Net Worth of
$1 Billion or greater.
b)
In no case shall SPP accept Surety Bonds with an aggregate
value greater than $10 million dollars ($10,000,000) issued by any
individual surety on behalf of an individual Credit Customer.
c)
Neither shall SPPSPP shall not accept surety bonds with an
greater than $50 million dollars ($50,000,000) issued by any
individual surety.

7.1.5.67

7.2

Use of Surety Bond. In the event a Credit Customer fails to make
any timely payment to SPP, SPP may draw upon the Surety Bond as
necessary to satisfy any and all amounts due from the Credit
Customer pursuant to the Agreements. In such event, within three
(3) Business Days, the Credit Customer must replenish the Surety
Bond or provide SPP with other Financial Security in an amount
equal to the draw or in such other amount as SPP may require under
this Credit Policy, and failure to satisfy this requirement shall be a
Default under this Credit Policy. In the event of such failure to make
timely payment, and in addition to any other remedies available to
SPP, SPP may draw down the entire Surety Bond and hold the
proceeds in an unsegregated account and apply such proceeds to
amounts owed by the Credit Customer to SPP pursuant to the
Agreements. The foregoing sentence notwithstanding, upon the
Credit Customer’s written notice of request, SPP will treat as a Cash
Deposit the proceeds of a draw over and above amounts currently
due and unpaid and transfer same to a segregated account in
accordance with such treatment, provided that the Credit Customer
has executed a Credit and Security Agreement.

Financial Security Defaults. In addition to the breaches with respect to Financial Security
identified in Section 7.1.2.3 (failure to replenish Cash Deposit), and 7.1.3.6 (failure to
replenish Irrevocable Letter of Credit), and 7.1.5.6 (failure to replenish a Surety Bond),
any failure by an issuer of an Irrevocable Letter of Credit, or Surety Bond, or any breach
of a Credit and Security Agreement shall be a Default under this Credit Policy and a default
under the Tariff. A Default under this Credit Policy and a default under the Tariff shall
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also occur if: (i) the Financial Security expires or terminates (other than in accordance with
its terms or upon the written consent of SPP); (ii) the person issuing the Financial Security
disaffirms, disclaims, repudiates or rejects or challenges the validity of all or any part of
the Financial Security; or (iii) the Financial Security or any material provision of the
Financial Security ceases to be in full force and effect (other than in accordance with its
terms or upon the written consent of SPP).
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ARTICLE EIGHT
Default and Remedies
8.1

Default. Any of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this Credit
Policy by a Credit Customer:
8.1.1

Failure to post any required Financial Security required under this Credit Policy in
the time period specified;

8.1.2

Reserved for Future Use;

8.1.3

Failure to pay in full any amount payable under the Tariff, unless cured in
accordance with Section 8.3 of this Credit Policy;

8.1.4

A Credit Customer’s involvement in financial difficulties as evidenced by: (i) its
commencement of a voluntary case under Title 11 of the United States Code as
from time to time in effect, or by its authorizing, by appropriate proceedings of its
board of directors, general partners or other governing body, the commencement of
such a voluntary case; (ii) its filing an answer or other pleading admitting or failing
to deny the material allegations of a petition filed against it commencing an
involuntary case under said Title 11, or seeking, consenting to or acquiescing in the
relief therein provided, or by its failing to controvert timely the material allegations
of any such petition; (iii) the entry of an order for relief in any involuntary case
commenced under said Title 11; (iv) its seeking relief as a debtor under any
applicable law, other than said Title 11, of any jurisdiction relating to the liquidation
or reorganization of debtors or to modification or alteration of the rights of
creditors, or by its consenting to or acquiescing in such relief; (v) the entry of an
order by a court of competent jurisdiction (a) finding it to be bankrupt or insolvent,
(b) ordering or approving its liquidation, reorganization or any modification or
alteration of the rights of its creditors, or (c) assuming custody of, or appointing a
receiver or other custodian for all or a substantial part of its property, and such entry
or order shall not be vacated or stayed within ninety (90) days; (vi) the filing of a
petition under Title 11 which shall not be vacated within ninety (90) days; or (vii)
its making an assignment for the benefit of, or entering into a composition with, its
creditors, or appointing or consenting to the appointment of a receiver or other
custodian for all or a substantial part of its property.

8.1.5

Commission of any other Default specified under this Credit Policy, including
Defaults specified in Sections 3.2.2, 5.3.3, 6.3.4, 7.1.2.3., 7.1.3.6, 7.1.5.6, and 7.2.

8.1.6

Except with respect to an event described in Sections 8.1.1 through 8.1.5, the failure
to provide any of the Credit Information required under this Credit Policy in the
time periods specified, and the failure to observe or perform any of the material
terms or conditions or provisions set forth in this Agreement, and such failure is not
cured within two (2) Business Days after notice thereof from SPP. If such failure
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is a failure to provide any of the Credit Information required under this Credit
Policy in the time periods specified, and the failure cannot reasonably be cured
within such period, and if the Credit Customer has commenced and is diligently
pursuing such cure and provides SPP with adequate assurance of due performance
to protect SPP against loss arising from the failure to perform, the Credit Customer
may request in writing stating the reasons for the delay and obtain an additional
five (5) Business Days if the Credit Customer is a Large Company or a Small
Company and ten (10) Business Days if the Credit Customer is a Not-For-Profit
after the written notice of Default, as shall be necessary for the Credit Customer to
cure the failure with all due diligence.
8.2

Notice of Financial Difficulties. Immediately upon the occurrence of an Event of Default
as set forth in Section 8.1.4, the Credit Customer shall provide notice to SPP and a copy of
any pleadings, orders, petitions, agreements or other document initiating or filed in
connection with such Event of Default.

8.3

Remedies for Default. Upon the first occurrence of a customer default as described in
Section 7.4 of the Tariff or an Event of Default (except as defined in Section 8.1.4 of this
Credit Policy) within a twelve month period, SPP will take no action to suspend any
Unsecured Credit Allowance as long as the default is remedied within the specified cure
period. Should the first occurrence not be remedied within the specified cure period SPP
will suspend any Unsecured Credit Allowance for ninety (90) calendar days. Upon the
second customer default or Event of Default within a twelve (12) month period, SPP will
suspend any Unsecured Credit Allowance for ninety (90) calendar days. The suspension
will occur even if one or both occurrences were remedied within the specified cure period.
SPP may, except to the extent such remedy is limited in this Credit Policy, exercise any
rights or remedies it may have at law or in equity, including but not limited to bringing suit
or otherwise initiating proceedings for monetary damages, injunctive relief, specific
performance, and relief available under the Federal Power Act. If the Event of Default has
not been cured by the Credit Customer within two (2) Business Days or as otherwise
outlined under Section 8.1.6 after the Credit Customer’s receipt of notice thereof, or, in the
case of failure to pay in full amounts payable under Section 7 of the Tariff, within two (2)
Business Days after the Transmission Customer’s receipt of notice thereof, except as may
be precluded under applicable law, SPP may terminate all of the Credit Customer’s rights
under this Credit Policy. Such termination shall not affect any liability of the Credit
Customer incurred before and existing as of such termination. In addition, and without
prejudice to any other remedies, SPP reserves all rights to terminate service in accordance
with the Tariff and applicable law.
Upon the first occurrence of an Event of Default as defined in Section 8.1.4 of this Credit
Policy, SPP will immediately suspend the Credit Customer’s Unsecured Credit Allowance
and may, at SPP’s sole discretion, terminate all of the Credit Customer’s rights under this
Credit Policy and/or terminate service in accordance with the Tariff and applicable law.
Any such termination shall not affect any liability that the Credit Customer incurred prior
to and as of such termination. Upon the first occurrence of an Event of Default as defined
in Section 8.1.4 of this Credit Policy, SPP also may order the Credit Customer to post
additional collateral, cease one or more market transactions, or take other measures to
protect SPP and other Market Participants from the Credit Customer’s Default.
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Appendix “A”
Credit Application Form

Credit Customer Identification
1.1

Name of the Company as identified in its certificate of formation / incorporation
_______________________________________________________________

1.2

Date of formation / incorporation of the Company
_______________________________________________________________

1.3

Registration / file number with the applicable Secretary of State’s Office
_______________________________________________________________

1.4

Please indicate all unique Company identifiers.
Company Ticker Symbol
Market Cap
Federal Tax ID Number
NERC Acronym
SIC Code
DUNS Number

1.5

Address of the registered office of the Company
Country
Address
Post Code
City
Phone
Website
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1.6

Address of the trading office(s) of the Company
Country
Address
Post Code
City
Phone
Website

1.7

Please list any affiliated companies, including subsidiary companies of which your
Company owns greater than 10%, that participate in SPP’s markets or any other
Independent System Operator or Regional Transmission Operator (ISO/RTO) markets.
Subsidiaries and Affiliates

1.8

ISO / RTO

What is the main business of your Company (as stated in the Company’s certificate of
incorporation, limited liability company agreement, partnership agreement or other
applicable corporate governing documents)?
_______________________________________________________________

1.9

Please include a copy of your Company’s Articles of Incorporation, Articles of
Organization or similar documents.
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Board, Shareholder, and Management Information
2.1

Please list board members (if applicable).
Full Name

2.2

Business Mailing Address

Please list any legal representatives (executive officers such as CEO, CFO, CRO, etc.)
authorized to sign an agreement with SPP on behalf of the Company.
Full name

Authorized
to sign?

Business Mailing
Address

Tenure with
Company

alone
jointly
alone
jointly
alone
jointly

2.3

Please state your Company’s shareholders/owners and indicate their respective share or
ownership percentage (>10%).
Full name

Percentage

Business Mailing Address
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2.4

Please provide the following information for each individual, if any, who, directly or
indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise,
owns 25% or more of the equity interests of the Company.
Full name
Business Mailing Address

2.5

Please list the persons responsible, respectively, for payment of invoices, compliance,
credit, trading activity and questions about this form.
Contact details (business
Full name
Business Mailing Address
e-mail address and
business phone number)
Payments:
Compliance:
Credit:
Trading:
Questions
form:

about

this

135 of 171

SPP Market Participation
3.1

Please indicate which of SPP’s products your Company transacts or intends to transact
and include an estimate of the annual volumes by product (in MWh).
Real-Time Energy
Day-Ahead Energy
Virtual Energy
Transmission Congestion Rights
Transmission Service

3.2

Please list forms of credit your Company intends to utilize to support trading exposure.
Cash (See Section 7.1.2 and
Appendix B)
Irrevocable Letter of Credit (See
Section 7.1.3 and Appendices B List Bank Counterparty
and C)
Corporate
Guarantee
(See
Section 3.1.3, Article Six, and List Potential Guarantor
Appendix D)
Surety Bond (See Section 7.1.5
List Issuing Surety
and Appendices B and F)

3.3

List your Company’s financial auditors and their addresses.
_______________________________________________________________

3.4

Please provide audited financial statements for the Company for the last three years,
including any current third-party credit ratings.
_______________________________________________________________

3.5

List all amounts held for collateral with any ISO/RTO as recorded in total assets of your
Company’s latest audited financial statements.
_______________________________________________________________
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Loss Contingencies and Judgments
4.1

Has your Company (or an Affiliate), in the last five years: a) consented to the
appointment of, or was taken in possession by, a receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator
of a substantial part of its assets, b) filed a bankruptcy petition in any bankruptcy court
proceeding, c) answered, consented, or sought relief under any bankruptcy or similar
law or failed to obtain a dismissal of an involuntary petition, d) admitted in writing its
inability to pay its debts when due, e) made a general assignment for the benefit of
creditors, f) been the subject of an involuntary proceeding seeking to adjudicate the
Company (or affiliate) bankrupt or insolvent, g) sought reorganization, arrangement,
adjustment, or composition of it or its debt under any law relating to bankruptcy,
insolvency, or reorganization or relief of debtors?
_______________________________________________________________

4.2

If yes to any question in 4.1, please provide a description of proceedings including
applicable docket or case numbers.
_______________________________________________________________

4.3

Has your Company (or one or more of its affiliates), in the last five years, been found in
violation of SEC, OCC, FERC, or CFTC requirements or any other federal or state
regulation or law regarding energy commodities? Additionally, if not found in violation
of such regulations and/or laws, has your Company (or its affiliates) settled allegations
of violation with the applicable regulatory authority and/or paid fines related to activity
in energy commodities?
If yes to any question in 4.3, please provide a description of proceedings including
applicable docket or case numbers.
_______________________________________________________________

4.4

Has your Company ever failed to cure an unpaid invoice from any RTO/ISO in the last
5 years, or been found to be in default by an RTO/ISO, or been either suspended or
expelled (i.e., had its participation revoked) from an ISO/RTO?
If yes to any question in 4.4, please provide an explanation of the situation, its outcome,
and all other relevant factors associated with the event (including applicable docket or
case numbers).
_______________________________________________________________
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Signatures
The undersigned is duly authorized to declare and does hereby declare in good faith that all
information, answers and documents provided with this Questionnaire are true, correct and
authentic and that no relevant information is omitted.
Place

Date

Print Name:
Title:

Signature

Subscribed and sworn before me
County of

, a notary public of the State of
, this __ day of
, 20

, in and for the
.

_______________________________
(Notary Public Signature)
My commission expires: /

/
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Appendix “B” Credit and Security Agreement
This Credit and Security Agreement is effective as of the _____ day of ________________, 20__,
by and between _______________________ (“Company”) and Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
(“SPP”).
Recitals
WHEREAS, SPP offers certain services, including certain transmission services, market services
and other services as set out in the _________________ Tariff of SPP, as may be amended and
supplemented from time to time and together with all replacements and substitutes thereto
(collectively, the “Tariff”);
WHEREAS, SPP maintains a Credit Policy (which is Attachment X to the Tariff, as the same may
be amended from time to time) in order to determine, on a case by case basis, the level of unsecured
credit available to each customer who takes services under the Tariff and the form and amount of
financial assurance to be required by each customer, if any;
WHEREAS, in the event Company provides financial assurance to SPP in the form of Ccash
collateralDeposit, or an Irrevocable Letter of Credit letter of credit, a Surety Bond or, for a Credit
Customer that is a Federal Power Marketing Agency, a letter as specified in Section 7.1.4 of
Attachment X, SPP requires Company, in accordance with the terms of its Credit Policy as filed
and accepted by FERC, to execute this Credit and Security Agreement in order to assure the
strength of SPP’s security interest in such Ccash collateralDeposit, Federal Power Marketing
Agency Letter, or Irrevocable Letter of Creditletter of credit, or Surety Bond;
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is
hereby acknowledged by each of the parties hereto, Company and SPP hereby agree as follows:
(1)
The “Liabilities” as used in this Credit and Security Agreement means all of the financial
obligations of the Company under the Tariff and/or any and all agreements entered into, under,
pursuant to, or in connection with the Tariff (including, without limitation, the SPP Credit Policy)
and any and all other agreements to which SPP and the Company are parties (collectively, the
“Agreements”).
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(2)
As security for the payment and performance of the Liabilities, SPP shall have, and the
Company hereby grants to SPP, a continuing security interest in the following collateral (as
indicated below) (the “Collateral”): all of the Company’s right, title, and interest in any and all
cash, cash collateral, Ccash Ddeposits and deposit accounts of the Company held or controlled by
SPP, including accounts designated “for the benefit of” Company, that either (i) are or contain
proceeds from any draw upon any Irrevocable Letter of CreditLetters of Credit or Surety Bond
naming SPP as beneficiary to the extent that SPP determines in its sole discretion to treat such
payments as cash collateral, and without prejudice to SPP’s right to treat draws as payments to
SPP of any and all amounts due to SPP from the Company , or (ii) are or contain cash submitted
by the Company as collateral or security, however created or evidenced, whether now existing or
hereafter owned, acquired, created, used or arising, including all products and proceeds of the
foregoing, any and all renewals, extensions, replacements, modifications, additions, and
substitutions of the foregoing and all rights, remedies, claims and demands under or in connection
with each of the foregoing.
(3)
All Collateral held or controlled by SPP after the date of this Credit and Security
Agreement shall be free of any lien, security interest or encumbrance, except for liens, security
interests or encumbrances in favor of SPP, and the Company agrees not to grant any security
interest or permit any lien or encumbrance to arise in any of the Collateral except for security
interests, liens and encumbrances in favor of SPP without the prior written consent of SPP.
(4)
The Company agrees to do such reasonable acts and things and deliver or cause to be
delivered such other documents as SPP may reasonably deem necessary to establish and maintain
a valid perfected security interest in the Collateral (free of all other liens and claims except those
of SPP) to secure the payment and performance of the Liabilities and to defend title to the
Collateral against any person claiming any interest therein adverse to SPP. The Company
authorizes SPP to file a financing statement or statements on its behalf in those public offices
deemed advisable or necessary by SPP to protect the security interest of the Company herein
granted. If permitted by law, the Company agrees that a carbon, photographic or other
reproduction of this Credit and Security Agreement or of a financing statement may be filed as a
financing statement.
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(5)
Subject to the Tariff, upon the occurrence of any Default and at any time thereafter, SPP
shall have all rights and remedies available at law or in equity including, without limitation, the
rights and remedies of a secured party under the Arkansas Uniform Commercial Code, as in effect
from time to time, including, without limitation, the right to retain and/or take possession of the
Collateral. SPP may in its discretion transfer any property constituting Collateral into its own
name or that of its nominee and receive the income thereon and hold the same as security for the
Liabilities or apply it on amounts due on Liabilities.
(6)
Until such time as SPP exercises its remedies upon a Default, all income, earnings and
profits with respect to the Collateral shall be reported for state and federal income tax purposes as
attributable to the Company and not SPP. Company hereby instructs SPP (and any other person
authorized to report taxable income distributions) to issue, or cause to be issued, IRS Form 1099
indicating the Company as the recipient of such income, earnings and profits.
(7)
Whenever possible each provision of this Credit and Security Agreement shall be
interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision
of this Credit and Security Agreement shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such
provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition without invalidating the
remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Credit and Security Agreement.
The Company recognizes that SPP has relied on this Credit and Security Agreement in extending
credit to the Company and agrees that such reliance by SPP shall be sufficient consideration for
this Credit and Security Agreement.
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(8)
The Company maintains any and all rights under Section 206 of the Federal Power Act it
may have with regard to this Credit and Security Agreement or its implementation.
This Credit and Security Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and
governed by, the laws of the State of Arkansas (without giving effect to the principles of conflicts
of laws thereof).
_____________________________________
Company Name
_____________________________________
Authorized Signature
_____________________________________
Print Name
_____________________________________
Title
SOUTHWEST POWER POOL, INC.
By:
_____________________________________
Authorized Signature
_____________________________________
Print Name
_____________________________________
Title
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Appendix “F” FORM OF SURETY BOND
Surety Bond No._________
THIS SURETY BOND is issued on [date] by [full legal name of surety] (“Surety”) on
behalf of [full legal name of SPP customer] (“Principal”), and in favor of Southwest Power Pool,
Inc. (“SPP”). Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning
ascribed to those terms in SPP’s Open Access Transmission Tariff (“OATT”).
WHEREAS, Principal seeks to satisfy credit or security requirements established in the OATT;
and
WHEREAS, Surety is U.S. Treasury-listed with a minimum “A-” rating from A.M. Best and has
agreed, in exchange for compensation provided by Principal, to provide this Surety Bond on behalf
of Principal in accordance with SPP’s credit requirements;

Formatted: Highlight

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained,
Surety hereby agrees and covenants as follows:
1.
Amount of Bond. Surety unconditionally and irrevocably agrees to pay SPP amounts not
to exceed an aggregate of [amount], in accordance with the terms of this Surety Bond.
2.
Payment Upon Demand. Surety shall pay such amount as specified by SPP upon receipt
of a demand for payment notice (“Demand for Payment Notice”). Such Demand for Payment
Notice shall be: (i) signed by an officer or authorized agent of SPP, (ii) dated the date of
presentation, and (iii) be in the form as set forth in Exhibit A, Exhibit B, or Exhibit C, as applicable.
3.
Validation. SPP may demand payment pursuant to this Surety Bond without prior
demonstration of the validity of the demand.
4.
Multiple Draws. SPP may demand multiple payments pursuant to this Surety Bond;
provided, however, that the total amount of Surety’s obligation hereunder shall not exceed an
aggregate of [amount].
5.
Time and Form of Payment. Surety shall pay amounts owed pursuant to this Surety Bond
in full not later than the first business day following receipt of SPP’s written demand for payment
to the account designated therein.
6.
Obligations Unconditional. This Surety Bond is not conditioned upon SPP first attempting
to collect payment, resorting to any other means of security or collateral, or pursuing any other
remedies it may have. The obligations of Surety hereunder are independent of the obligations of
Principal, and SPP may bring an action against Surety without bringing an action against Principal.
SPP may from time to time, without notice or demand, and without affecting Surety’s liability
hereunder, take and hold other security for Principal’s obligations to SPP and exchange, waive,
release, or apply such security as SPP deems appropriate in its sole discretion. Surety’s liability
under this Surety Bond is not conditioned upon the validity or enforceability of Principal’s
obligations to SPP.
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7.
Term of Surety Bond. The term of this Surety Bond shall begin on the date of its issuance,
as set forth above, and shall continue in full force and effect until all amounts owed by Principal
pursuant to the Agreements, as that term is defined in the OATT, are paid in full, including any
amounts owed as a result of true-ups or other corrections to previous settlements; provided,
however, that Surety may terminate this Surety Bond as provided in Paragraph 8, below.
8.
Termination. Surety may terminate this Surety Bond upon ninety (90) days written notice
to SPP; provided, however, that: (i) Surety’s liability hereunder shall survive such termination and
remain in full force and effect as to obligations incurred by Principal during the term of this Surety
Bond; and (ii) in the event that Principal fails to provide an acceptable form of replacement
Financial Security to SPP at least eighty seven (87) days prior to the termination of this Surety
Bond, Surety shall, upon demand, without any notice other than such demand, and without any
further action by SPP deliver Cash Deposit to SPP not later than the next Business Day in the
amount of the full remaining value of this Surety Bond as security for Principal’s obligations to
SPP. A Cash Deposit provided to SPP by Surety and not applied by SPP to satisfy unpaid
obligations of Principal shall be returned to Surety at such time as: (i) Principal provides adequate
replacement Financial Security to SPP or (ii) all amounts owed by Principal to SPP are paid in
full, including amounts owed as a result of true-ups or other corrections to previous settlements.
9.
Principal Pays Bond Costs. Principal shall pay all commissions and charges for this Surety
Bond. Principal’s failure to pay any such charges shall not be grounds for termination of this
Surety Bond, except as provided in Paragraph 08, above.
10.
Expenses. Surety shall pay all reasonable costs incurred by SPP in the enforcement of this
Surety Bond, including attorney fees and expenses. Surety’s obligation to pay such costs shall be
in addition to other amounts owed pursuant to this Surety Bond and shall not be limited by the
maximum stated amount of this Surety Bond.
11.
Communications. Demands, notices, and other communications shall be deemed effective
when received, shall be in writing, and shall be delivered by courier with receipt of delivery or by
registered mail, certified mail, or facsimile to the following addresses:
a.

If to Surety:
[Surety notice address]
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b.

If to SPP:
Attn: Credit and Risk Management Department
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
201 Worthen Drive
Little Rock, AR 72223-4936

c.

If to Principal:
[Principal notice address]

Surety, SPP, or Principal may change the address provided for receipt of communications pursuant
to this Surety Bond by providing written notice to the other parties.
12.

Representations and Warranties. Surety represents and warrants to SPP that:
a.
Surety has the legal power to execute and deliver this Surety Bond and to
perform in accordance with its terms. All necessary actions have been taken to authorize
the execution and delivery of this Surety Bond and performance in accordance with its
terms. This Surety Bond is a legal, valid, and binding obligation of Surety.
b.
There is no action or proceeding pending or, to Surety’s knowledge,
threatened before any court, arbitrator, or governmental agency that may materially
adversely affect Surety’s ability to perform its obligations under this Surety Bond.
c.
There is no fact that Surety has not disclosed in writing to SPP of which
Surety is aware or which Surety can reasonably foresee that would materially adversely
affect Surety or the ability of Surety to perform its obligations hereunder.

13.
Assignment. SPP may assign its rights under this Surety Bond without in any way
diminishing Surety’s obligations hereunder. Surety shall not be permitted to assign or transfer its
rights under this Surety Bond without prior written consent of SPP.
14.
Amendment and Waiver. The terms and provisions of this Surety Bond may not be
amended or waived except in a writing signed by SPP and Surety. Election not to exercise, failure
to exercise, or delay in exercising any rights under this Surety Bond shall in no way operate as a
waiver of any rights of SPP under this Surety Bond.
15.
Entire Agreement. This Surety Bond embodies the entire agreement between Surety and
SPP with respect to the matters set forth herein and supersedes all prior such agreements.
16.
Severability. Should any provision of this Surety Bond be determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable, all of the other provisions shall remain effective.
17.
Choice of Law; Jurisdiction; Venue; and Service of Process. This Surety Bond shall be
governed by the laws of the State of Arkansas without regard to conflict of laws principles. Surety
irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of any Arkansas court or any United States court sitting in
Arkansas over any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Surety Bond and
irrevocably agrees that all claims in such action or proceeding may be heard and determined by
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such court. Surety agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive
and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided
by law. Surety waives any objection to venue on the basis of forum non conveniens. Surety
irrevocably consents to the service of process in any action or proceeding by the mailing of copies
of such process to Surety at its address set forth herein. Nothing herein shall affect the right of
SPP to bring any action or proceeding against Surety or its property in the courts of any other
jurisdictions.
18.
Waiver of Jury Trial. SURETY IRREVOCABLY, VOLUNTARILY, AND WITH
ADVICE OF COUNSEL WAIVES ANY RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN
ANY ACTION ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS SURETY BOND.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Surety has executed and delivered this Surety Bond this [date].

[Full Legal Name of Surety]

By:_________________________
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT A
(Form of Demand for Payment Notice – Principal Failure to Make Payment)
[Date]1
[Name and Address of Surety]2
Re: Surety Bond No. ___________
Demand for Payment

To the above named Surety:
The undersigned hereby certifies to [full legal name of surety] (“Surety”), with
reference to its Surety Bond No. [bond number], dated [execution date of Surety Bond],
issued on behalf of [full legal name of SPP customer] (“Principal”) and in favor of Southwest
Power Pool, Inc. (“SPP”) that Principal has failed to make payment in accordance with the terms

1

The date of the Demand for Payment Notice must be the date for which presentation of the Notice
is made.

2

This will be the address of the Surety as set forth in the Surety Bond.
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of the Agreements as defined in SPP’s OATT. SPP hereby demands payment in the amount of $
[amount] in accordance with the following instructions.

[Wiring Instructions]

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

By: __________________________3
Name: _______________________
Title: ________________________

3

The undersigned must be an officer or authorized agent of SPP.
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EXHIBIT B
(Form of Demand for Payment Notice – Principal Failure to Provide Acceptable Security)
[Date]4
[Name and Address of Surety]5
Re: Surety Bond No. ___________
Demand for Payment

To the above named Surety:
The undersigned hereby certifies to [full legal name of surety] (“Surety”),with reference
to its Surety Bond No. [bond number], dated [execution date of Surety Bond], issued on
behalf of [full legal name of SPP customer] (“Principal”) and in favor of Southwest Power
Pool, Inc. (“SPP”) that as of the close of business on [date] [date less than eighty-seven (87)
days before the expiration of the Surety Bond],6 Principal has failed to renew, replace, or
amend this Surety Bond in satisfaction of the credit requirements established pursuant to SPP’s

4

The date of the Demand for Payment Notice must be the date for which presentation of the Notice
is made.

5

This will be the address of the Surety as set forth in the Surety Bond.

6

Insert date less than eighty-seven (87) days prior to expiration of the Surety Bond.
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OATT. SPP hereby demands payment in the amount of $ [amount] in accordance with the
following instructions.

[Wiring Instructions]

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
By: __________________________7
Name: _______________________
Title: ________________________

7

The undersigned must be an officer or authorized agent of SPP.
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EXHIBIT C
(Form of Demand for Payment Notice – Surety Rating Downgrade)
[Date]8
[Name and Address of Surety]9
Re: Surety Bond No. ___________
Demand for Payment

To the above named Surety:
The undersigned hereby certifies to [full legal name of surety] (“Surety”),with reference to its Surety
Bond No. [bond number], dated [execution date of Surety Bond], issued on behalf of [full legal name of
SPP customer] (“Principal”) and in favor of Southwest Power Pool, Inc. (“SPP”) that as of the close of
business on [date] [date more than three (3) business days after SPP has requested that Principal replace
the Surety Bond because the Surety’s rating by A.M. Best is less than “A-”], Principal has failed to replace

8

The date of the Demand for Payment Notice must be the date for which presentation of the Notice is made.

9

This will be the address of the Surety as set forth in the Surety Bond.
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this Surety Bond in a manner acceptable to SPP. SPP hereby demands payment in the amount of $ [amount] in
accordance with the following instructions.

[Wiring Instructions]

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
By: __________________________10
Name: _______________________
Title: ________________________

10

The undersigned must be an officer or authorized agent of SPP.
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Southwest Power Pool
2021 Financial Commentary
November 30, 2021
(in thousands)

Summary
2021 FY
Forecast
Revenues
Expenses
Net Income/(Loss)

$197,829
205,248
($7,419)

2021 FY
Budget
$196,510
200,853
($4,343)

Fav/(Unfav)
Variance
$1,319
(4,395)
($3,076)

0.7%
(2.2%)
70.8%

Revenue
2021 FY
Forecast
Tariff Administration Service
FERC Fees
Contract Services
Engineering Studies
Miscellaneous other
Annual Non-Load Dues
Total Revenue

$151,531
21,004
10,717
12,422
1,506
648
$197,829

2021 FY
Budget
$151,337
22,467
10,585
9,504
1,951
666
$196,510

Fav/(Unfav)
Variance
$194
(1,463)
132
2,918
(445)
(18)
$1,319

0.1%
(6.5%)
1.3%
30.7%
(22.8%)
(2.7%)
0.7%

9
The annual billing determinants assumed in the 2021 budget for Tariff Administration Service revenues for the market rate
schedules were based on actual data from August 2019 - July 2020. Tariff Admin Service revenues were forecast to slightly
trail budget until August however increases in energy flows in the 10
market in subsequent months resulted in projected
annual revenues to be in line with the budget.
FERC Fees & Assessments revenue reflects the actual rate to be charged under Schedule 12 for 2021, which is $0.072 as
compared to $0.083 assumed in the budget.
The forecast reflects estimates of the additional outside services approved by the finance committee to address the backlog
of GI studies. The current projected need for additional outside resources exceeds budget by $2.3 million. These additional
expenses are directly offset in pass-thru Engineering Studies revenues and therefore have no impact to NRR. SPP billable
staff time for engineering studies is expected to exceed original estimates by $0.6 million. This additional revenue does
have a direct favorable impact to the NRR and also contributes to the projected favorable variance to budget.

Miscellaneous Income primarily includes revenues associated with various sources such as pass-thru consulting costs for
the Order 1000 transmission owner selection process, joint operating agreement fees, miscellaneous rebates, reserve
sharing, and circuit reimbursements. The unfavorable variance is driven primarily by lower Order 1000 revenues that are
offset by lower consulting expenses related to the same process.
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Southwest Power Pool
2021 Financial Commentary
November 30, 2021
(in thousands)

Expense
SPP RTO
Salary & Benefits
Assessments & Fees
Maintenance
Communications
Outside Services & RSC
Services Reimbursed
Administrative
Travel & Meetings
Interest Expense
Depreciation
Other (Income)/Expenses
Total Expense

$107,655
26,548
15,314
4,399
11,570
6,035
5,195
129
7,306
15,884
(1,877)
$198,158

2021 FY Forecast
Contract Services
$4,368
250
449
358
1
9
314
1,341
$7,090

Total SPP
$112,023
26,548
15,564
4,848
11,928
6,035
5,196
138
7,621
17,224
(1,877)
$205,248

2021 FY Budget
SPP RTO Contract Services
Total SPP
$103,457
22,474
17,471
4,440
14,163
4,504
5,424
1,329
7,588
16,776
(4,000)
$193,627

$4,346
385
485
307
1
59
308
1,336
$7,226

$107,803
22,474
17,856
4,925
14,470
4,504
5,425
1,388
7,896
18,112
(4,000)
$200,853

Fav/(Unfav)
Variance
($4,221)
(4,074)
2,292
77
2,542
(1,531)
229
1,250
275
888
(2,123)
($4,395)

(3.9%)
(18.1%)
12.8%
1.6%
17.6%
(34.0%)
4.2%
90.1%
3.5%
4.9%
(2.2%)

Salary & Benefits are forecast to be unfavorable to budget due to multiple factors. Factors impacting the NRR include a) multiple non-recurring severance expenditures
which are consistent with SPP’s severance policy, b) ongoing trend of higher medical claims and c) increased expense related to a number of executives being added to
the supplemental executive retirement plan. This plan is established under section 457(f) of the IRS code and the incremental participants were authorized by the SPP
Human Resources Committee in late 2020 after the budget was finalized. Additional unfavorable variances in accrued expenses for employee retirement programs do not
impact the NRR.
SPP received the annual assessment invoice from FERC in June. The forecast reflects the revised estimate for current year FERC Assessments and Fees and also
includes a true-up for the prior year under accrual, both contributing to the unfavorable variance to budget.
The variance in Outside Services & RSC is associated with various offsetting favorable and unfavorable factors. Lower than expected outside legal expenses contribute to
the overall favorable variance, as well as a reduction in outside services expense associated with the delay in the engineering PROMOD project. Unbudgeted costs for
congestion hedging studies within operations and miscellaneous services originally covered in the 2020 budget that were carried forward into 2021 serve as a partial
offset to the favorable variances in legal and engineering.
Services Reimbursed includes consulting costs that are directly offset by revenues with no impact to the NRR. The main driver of the unfavorable variance is related to
the increase in engineering studies costs that is driven by the additional focus on the GI studies backlog. This unfavorable variance is partially offset by a decrease in
consulting costs for the Order 1000 industry expert panel (IEP). The decrease in Order 1000 costs is driven by a slower start up in the process and due to the budget
assuming additional projects driven by the 2021 ITP which have subsequently been delayed.
The favorable variance in Maintenance is primarily due to the elimination of maintenance on non-critical products, successful negotiations on several large maintenance
renewal agreements and the deferral of various new projects that were anticipated to drive incremental maintenance.
The budget contains a $4 million reduction in overall costs as recommended by SPP management and approved by the Finance Committee and Board of Directors. The
recommendation was proposed to reduce total controllable expenditures in an attempt to maintain a 2021 GRR better aligned with the 2020 GRR. As no specific
reductions were proposed to attain the $4 million reduction, an offset to expenses was budgeted under Other (Income)/ Expenses. SPP staff has proposed cost
reductions in Maintenance, Outside Services and Travel & Meetings that are reflected in the 2021 forecast at the account level. Currently all of the reductions have been
identified in the forecast (with the exclusion of the over-budget expenses offset by pass-thru revenues).
Interest Expense and debt payments are forecasted to be favorable to budget as a result of the term notes that funded 2020 capital expenditures being lower than
budget. This contributed $1.8 million to the $4 million reduction to GRR noted above.
Other items recorded in Other (Income)/Expenses include swap valuation, investment income, unrealized gain/loss on investments, and other miscellaneous income and
expense amounts. These expense and income items are highly unpredictable and therefore are not included in the budget.
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Southwest Power Pool
Monthly Financial Overview
November 30, 2021
(in thousands)

Actual
Jan-21
Income
Tariff Administrative Service
Fees & Assessments
Contract Services
Engineering Studies Income
Miscellaneous Income
Total Income
Expense
Salary & Benefits
Employee Travel
Administrative
Assessments & Fees
Meetings
Communications
Maintenance
Services & RSC
Services Reimbursed
Depreciation and Other
Total Expense
Other Income/(Expense)
Investment Income
Interest Expense
Capitalized Interest
Change in Valuation of Swap
Other Income/(Expense)
Unrealized Gain on Investment
Net Other Income (Expense)
Net Income (Loss)
2021 Headcount
Approved Budgeted Positions
Actual Headcount (Incl. Vacancy)
Actual Positions (Excl. Vacancy)
Headcount Vacancy Run rate

NRR Over / (Under) Recovery

Actual
Feb-21

Actual
Mar-21

Actual
Apr-21

Actual
May-21

Actual
Jun-21

Actual
Jul-21

Actual
Aug-21

Actual
Sep-21

Actual
Oct-21

Actual
Nov-21

Forecast
Dec-21

$10,282 $11,599 $11,898 $13,133 $11,222 $11,814 $14,858 $13,527 $15,029 $11,603 $11,366 $15,201
2,498
1,526
2,068
1,504
1,421
1,657
1,750
1,952
2,324
1,759
1,541
1,651
476
869
1,024
884
884
1,131
969
896
896
896
896
896
769
947
1,076
1,397
1,180
792
1,147
1,084
1,064
1,209
783
976
137
65
80
82
191
207
174
210
72
109
89
91
14,161 15,007 16,146 16,999 14,897 15,601 18,898 17,668 19,385 15,576 14,676 18,815

FY 2021
Forecast

FY 2021
Budget

Variance
Fav/(Unfav)

FY 2020
Actual

Variance
Fav/(Unfav)

$151,531
21,652
10,717
12,422
1,506
197,829

$151,337
23,133
10,585
9,504
1,951
196,510

$194
(1,481)
132
2,918
(445)
1,319

$172,377
24,858
6,247
7,843
2,277
213,602

($20,846)
(3,206)
4,470
4,579
(771)
(15,774)

8,826
(1)
234
1,873
7
417
1,200
725
221
1,363
14,866

10,083
0
328
1,873
3
414
1,152
900
338
1,346
16,436

9,608
0
906
1,873
0
425
1,182
919
409
1,448
16,772

9,242
0
513
1,873
3
391
1,185
1,269
773
1,355
16,605

9,162
1
283
1,873
1
410
1,221
784
730
1,529
15,994

9,188
7
348
4,021
4
421
1,251
965
285
1,375
17,865

9,314
11
371
2,193
7
395
1,358
1,134
605
1,355
16,743

9,573
7
322
2,193
29
373
1,309
1,058
444
1,677
16,986

8,935
8
839
2,193
1
413
1,466
983
503
1,399
16,740

9,715
12
368
2,193
1
406
1,335
1,269
749
1,433
17,482

9,253
21
295
2,193
0
380
1,380
681
328
1,411
15,943

9,125
15
389
2,193
()
402
1,524
1,240
651
1,533
17,072

112,023
81
5,196
26,548
57
4,848
15,564
11,928
6,035
17,224
199,504

107,803
953
5,425
22,474
435
4,925
17,856
14,470
4,504
18,112
196,957

(4,221)
872
229
(4,074)
378
77
2,292
2,542
(1,531)
888
(2,547)

110,578
375
5,081
22,324
275
4,754
15,686
12,903
2,957
18,480
193,413

(1,446)
294
(115)
(4,224)
219
(94)
122
976
(3,078)
1,255
(6,091)

25
(652)
(3)
(49)
(679)

27
(651)
111
50
(464)

37
(665)
251
148
69
(160)

28
(649)
210
116
(295)

28
(643)
44
(4)
(575)

(199)
(645)
134
89
262
(360)

2
(624)
55
70
(497)

2
(634)
125
84
(423)

12
(628)
146
(185)
(154)
(810)

3
(607)
227
190
(187)

3
(610)
(73)
(26)
(706)

(611)
24
(588)

(33)
(7,621)
531
771
607
(5,743)

(7,896)
4,000
(3,896)

(33)
275
531
(3,229)
607
(1,848)

576
(8,210)
(196)
2,583
144
(9,548)

(609)
590
727
(1,811)
463
3,805

($1,384) ($1,894)

($787)

$99 ($1,671) ($2,624)

$1,657

$260

$1,835 ($2,093) ($1,973)

$1,155

($7,419)

, ($4,343)
,

($3,076)

$10,641

($18,060)

652
639
652

654
636
654

654
638
654

654
637
654

654
635
654

654
636
655

653
638
654

653
632
654

653
626
654

653
621
654

653
629
654

653
626
654

653
626
654

653

2.0%

2.8%

2.4%

2.6%

2.9%

2.9%

2.4%

3.4%

4.3%

5.0%

3.8%

4.3%

3.2%

3.5%

$891 ($4,991)

$2,941

$1,533 ($4,653)

$4,600

$3,342 ($2,479)

$868

$1,313 ($2,330)

$2,877

$1,843

656
636
656
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Southwest Power Pool
Contract Services Breakout
November 30, 2021
2020 Preliminary and Unaudited
(in thousands)

SPP RTO

Income
Tariff Administrative Service
Fees & Assessments
Contract Services Revenue
Miscellaneous Income
Total Income
Expense
Salary & Benefits
Employee Travel
Administrative
Assessments & Fees
Meetings
Communications
Maintenance
Services & RSC
Services Reimbursed
Depreciation
Total Expense
Net Other Income (Expense)
Net Income (Loss)
2021 Headcount

Contract Services

Total SPP

2021 FY

2021 FY

Variance

2021 FY

2021 FY

Variance

2021 FY

2021 FY

Variance

Forecast

Budget

Fav/(Unfav)

Forecast

Budget

Fav/(Unfav)

Forecast

Budget

Fav/(Unfav)

$151,531
21,652
312
13,928
$187,424

$151,337
23,133
312
11,455
$186,238

$194
(1,481)
2,473
$1,186

($)
10,405
$10,405

10,272
$10,272

($)
132
$132

$151,531
21,652
10,717
13,928
$197,829

$151,337
23,133
10,585
11,455
$196,510

$194
(1,481)
132
2,473
$1,319

107,655
73
5,195
26,548
56
4,399
15,314
11,570
6,035
15,884
192,729

103,457
906
5,424
22,474
423
4,440
17,471
14,163
4,504
16,776
190,039

(4,198)
833
229
(4,074)
367
41
2,157
2,593
(1,531)
893
(2,690)

4,368
8
1
1
449
250
358
1,341
6,776

4,346
47
1
12
485
385
307
1,336
6,918

(23)
39
0
11
36
135
(51)
(5)
143

112,023
81
5,196
26,548
57
4,848
15,564
11,928
6,035
17,224
199,504

107,803
953
5,425
22,474
435
4,925
17,856
14,470
4,504
18,112
196,957

(4,221)
872
229
(4,074)
378
77
2,292
2,542
(1,531)
888
(2,547)

(5,429)

(3,588)

(1,841)

(314)

(308)

(7)

(5,743)

(3,896)

(1,848)

($10,734)

($7,389)

($3,344)

$3,315

$3,047

$268

($7,419)

($4,343)

($3,076)

621

620

(1)

33

33

654

653

(1)

-
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Southwest Power Pool
Current Month Financial Overview
November 30, 2021
(in thousands)

Current Month Compared to Forecast YTD Actual Compared to YTD Budget
Nov-2021 Nov-2021
Variance
Nov-2021 Nov-2021 Variance
Actual
Forecast Fav/(Unfav)
Actual
Budget Fav/(Unfav)
Income
Tariff Administrative Service
Fees & Assessments
Contract Services
Engineering Studies
Miscellaneous
Total Income
Expense
Salary & Benefits
Employee Travel
Administrative
Assessments & Fees
Meetings
Communications
Maintenance
Services & RSC
Services Reimbursed
Depreciation
Total Expense
Other Income/(Expense)
Investment Income
Interest Expense
Capitalized Interest
Change in Valuation of Swap
Other Income/Expense
Unrealized Gain on Investment
Net Other Income (Expense)
Net Income (Loss)
Headcount

$11,366
1,541
896
783
89
14,676

$11,676
1,530
896
1,049
82
15,234

($311)
11

9,253
21
295
2,193

FY Forecast Compared to FY Budget
FY 2021
FY 2021
Variance
Forecast
Budget
Fav/(Unfav)

(266)
8
(558)

$136,330
20,001
9,821
11,446
1,415
179,014

$139,389
21,218
9,700
8,712
1,799
180,817

($3,059)
(1,217)
121
2,734
(384)
(1,803)

$151,531
21,652
10,717
12,422
1,506
197,829

$151,337
23,133
10,585
9,504
1,951
196,510

$194
(1,481)
132
2,918
(445)
1,319

380
1,380
602
408
1,411
15,943

9,437
7
396
2,193
()
402
1,474
869
512
1,530
16,821

184
(14)
101
()
22
95
267
104
119
878

102,899
66
4,807
24,355
57
4,446
14,040
10,687
5,385
15,692
182,432

98,839
794
5,110
20,571
402
4,515
16,368
13,241
4,129
16,586
180,555

(4,059)
728
303
(3,784)
345
69
2,329
2,554
(1,256)
894
(1,877)

112,023
81
5,196
26,548
57
4,848
15,564
11,928
6,035
17,224
199,504

107,803
953
5,425
22,474
435
4,925
17,856
14,470
4,504
18,112
196,957

(4,221)
872
229
(4,074)
378
77
2,292
2,542
(1,531)
888
(2,547)

3
(610)
(73)
(26)
(706)

(613)
24
(590)

3
3
(97)
(26)
(117)

(33)
(7,009)
531
748
607
(5,156)

(7,239)
3,000
(4,239)

(33)
230
531
(2,252)
607
(916)

(33)
(7,621)
531
771
607
(5,743)

(7,896)
4,000
(3,896)

(33)
275
531
(3,229)
607
(1,848)

($1,973)

($2,176)

$204

($8,574)

($3,977)

($4,597)

($7,419)

($4,343)

($3,076)

629

629

-

629

653

24

654

653

(1)
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0%
(6%)
1%
31%
(23%)
1%

(4%)
92%
4%
(18%)
87%
2%
13%
18%
(34%)
5%
(1%)

(3%)

(81%)

Southwest Power Pool
Balance Sheet
November 30, 2021
(in thousands)

11/30/2021
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash & Equivalents
Restricted Cash Deposits
Accounts Receivable (net)
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets

12/31/2020

Net Change

$76,906
685,759
61,234
17,186
$841,085

$76,128
445,550
85,251
11,883
$618,812

$777
240,210
(24,017)
5,302
$222,273

63,205
5,088
23,999

69,127
8,337
29,160

(5,922)
(3,249)
(5,161)

$933,377

$725,436

$207,941

$49,627
690,509
30,957
96,119
6,272
873,484

$78,204
445,550
27,260
86,877
8,243
646,134

(28,578)
244,959
3,697
9,242
(1,971)
227,349

8,870

12,090

(3,220)

141,994
50,725
192,719

154,353
45,980
200,333

(12,359)
4,745
(7,614)

Net Income
Members' Equity
Total Members' Equity

(8,574)
(133,122)
(141,696)

10,641
(143,763)
(133,122)

(19,215)
10,641
(8,574)

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

$933,377

$725,436

$207,941

Total Fixed Assets
Total Other Assets
Investments
Total Assets
LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Customer Deposits
Current Maturities of LT Debt
Other Current Liabilities
Deferred Revenue
Total Current Liabilities
Line of Credit
Long Term Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Other Long Term Liabilities
Total Long Term Liabilities
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Southwest Power Pool
Headcount Analysis
November 30, 2021
Current Month Actual vs. Budget
Actual
Budget
Over/(Under)
Nov-21
Nov-21
Budget

Year End Forecast vs. Budget
2021
2021
Over/(Under)
Forecast
Budget
Budget

Information Technology
Operations
Engineering
Process Integrity

164
165
88
36

168
171
100
37

(4)
(6)
(12)
(1)

169
167
99
37

168
171
100
37

1
(4)
(1)
0

Administration

58

56

2

60

56

4

HR & Administrative Services
Regulatory Policy & General Counsel
Market Monitoring
External Affairs & Stakeholder Relations
Contract Services
Budgeted Attrition

16
26
16
28
32

24
27
16
27
33
(6)

(8)
(1)
0
1
(1)
6

16
27
17
29
33

24
27
16
27
33
(6)

(8)
0
1
2
0
6

629

653

(24)

654

653

1

2021
Forecast

2021
Budget

656
1
0
(3)
654

659
0
(3)
(3)
653

Total Positions

Headcount summary
2020 Total positions at year-end
2021 out-of-budget addition
2020 attrition / eliminations
2021 attrition / eliminations
2021 Headcount

-

Note: The 2021 budget included the elimination of three unidentified positions from 2020 (that had not occurred at the time the budget was
proposed) and an additional three unidentified eliminations for 2021. Three positions were eliminated in late 2020 and three in January 2021.
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PO Number
PO2021-1010
PO2021-1068
PO2021-1142
PO2021-1217
PO2021-1333
PO2021-1335
PO2021-1365
PO2021-1366
PO2021-1390
PO2021-1439
PO2021-1462
PO2021-1481
PO2021-1482
PO2021-1485
PO2021-1486
PO2021-1329 and 1499
PO2021-1526 and 1569
PO2021-1575 and 2022-1019

Notes
A
B
C
D
E
F
G

Project Name
2021 Foundation General
FERC Order 841
Identity Access Management Deployment
2021 IT Foundation
FERC Order 841
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Foundation General
2021 Foundation General
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Engineering Foundation
2021 Engineering Foundation
Fast Start Resource Logic

Scope of Work/Item Description
HITT M1 - Study of Congestion Hedging Process
Amendment 1 to RR323 Market Storage SOW
Identity IQ Tool Deployment
Network Switches- Refresh (HW and Maintenance)
Amendment 1 to RR323 Market Storage SOW
Services associated with GI restudy -DISIS 2017
Affected Impact Study for DPP 2020
Independent Cost Estimates for ITP Projects
Modification Study -GEN-2015-023
Studies - Modification, Generating Facility Replacement, Surplus IC
Assistance with GI Study Backlog
Assist in search for Non-Executive Director
Assist in search for Non-Executive Director
Limited Operation Impact Study GEN-2016-153
Interim Availabilty Interconnection System Impact Study
Services associated with GI restudy -DISIS 2017-001
Services associate with DISIS 2017-002
Implementation services for market system changes (RRs375 and 420)
TOTAL
LESS: Expenses Covered by Revenue
Unbudgeted Not Covered by Revenue

Total Amount
$
385,000
$
691,750
$
607,940
$
282,718
$
291,250
$
137,000
$
734,000
$
350,000
$
100,000
$
848,000
$
498,315
$
106,000
$
106,000
$
122,100
$
195,000
$
109,920
$
123,400
$
686,000
$
6,374,393
$
2,867,735
$
3,506,658

Budgeted
$
$
$
500,000
$
$
$
$
$
100,000
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
168,750
$
768,750
$
$
768,750

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Unbudgeted
385,000
691,750
107,940
282,718
291,250
137,000
734,000
250,000
100,000
848,000
498,315
106,000
106,000
122,100
195,000
109,920
123,400
517,250
5,605,643
2,867,735
2,737,908

Notes
(C)
(B)
(A)
(D)
(B)
(E)
(E)
(F)
(E)
(E)
(E)
(E)
(E)
(E)
(E)
(G)

Original project budget of $500,000.
Initial SOW was for $210,210 (budgeted).
Engagement with independent, third party consulting firm to study SPP’s Congestion Hedging process
Budgeted as capital expense, but given the per item cost was <$5k, purchase was expensed according to capitalization policy.
Costs will be billed to customers. No impact to cost recovery.
$350k representes the highest estimated total that may be required if all analyzed projects were competitive. It is not expected that SPP will
need estimates greater than the budgeted amount.
This engagement was split between the budgeted and unbudgeted portion. The original SOW for $168,750 was Budgeted (PO2021-1575).
Amendment 1 (PO 2022-1019) for $517,250 was Unbudgeted.
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Helping our members work together to
keep the lights on... today and in the future.

SouthwestPowerPool

SPPorg

southwest-power-pool
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1

PROJECTS OVERVIEW

5

1

0

ACTIVE PROJECTS

DEFERRED, CONTINGENT,
OR CANCELED PROJECTS

COMPLETED PROJECTS

LINK TO STRATEGIC PLAN

3

Reliability Assurance

0

Maintain an Economical,
Optimized Transmission
System

2

Enhance Member Value
& Affordability

1

Enhance & Optimize
Interdependent Systems164 of 171

2

MRTS (TTSE DTS) UPGRADE - PHASE 2B
Strategic Plan Link: Reliability Assurance
OWNER
Rew

DESCRIPTION
Enhancement to the Dispatcher
Training Simulator (DTS) to
construct an integrated simulator
that allows SPP to construct and
reuse training scenarios that
simulate the interactions between
the EMS and MOS in production
and allow for the simultaneous
training of reliability and market
operators.

BUDGET
•
•

Approved:
$2.2M
Estimated cost
at completion:
$2.2M

Upcoming milestones:
• Code promoted to training production environment
• Project closure

STATUS
Active

01/21/2022
02/18/2022

Comments: Resource constraints have delayed testing as well as server requisition and
configuration by about a month. The new servers are expected to be available by mid-January,
and minor code implementation will follow by the end of January.
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3

RAMP CAPABILITY PRODUCT
Strategic Plan Link: Enhance Member Value and Affordability
OWNER

DESCRIPTION

Rew

To provide a market-based
approach for ramp management
that leverages existing
operational experiences to (1)
systematically pre-position
resources with ramp capability
to manage net load variations
and uncertainties and (2)
provide transparent price signals
to incent resource flexibility and
economic investment.

BUDGET
•
•

Approved: $0.8M
Estimated cost at
completion: $0.8M

STATUS
Active

Upcoming milestone:
• Member testing end 02/14/22
Comments: Project was originally approved in the 2020-2022 budget for $0.2M. During the
2021-2023 budget cycle, the project cost was revised and approved for a total of $0.8M.
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4

EMS, CMT & MARKETS SOFTWARE
UPGRADE
Strategic Plan Link: Reliability Assurance
OWNER

DESCRIPTION

Ellis

This project addresses the hardware
refresh and software upgrade required
to continue operations of the EMS,
CMT and Markets applications. Both
the system software and the hardware
used for the systems are due for
refresh by December 2022.

Upcoming milestones:
• Phase 1 software testing
• Phase 2 software delivery

•
•

BUDGET

STATUS

Approved: $3.5M
Estimated cost at
completion: $3.5M

Active

Q1 2022
Q1 2022

Comments: The upgrade of the EMS, CMT and Markets MKTNET components to GE’s version 3.3 of
EMS and CMT software (and the associated hardware refresh) better positions SPP for reliability.
Upgrading to a modern version of EMS brings SPP up to date on the latest GE functionality offerings
and reduces our level of customization, which allows greater standardization of tools and processes.
Business users will benefit from new features, and IT can better address CIP requirements (both
existing and new requirements as a result of CIP 10 and CIP 13) with fewer manual processes.
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5

FAST START RESOURCE LOGIC
Strategic Plan Link: Enhance Member Value and Affordability
OWNER
Rew

DESCRIPTION
Fulfill FERC orders for Fast Start
related RRs:
•
RR375-FERC Order on Fast
Start Pricing
•
RR420-Fast Start Order
Compliance

BUDGET
•
•

Approved: $0.2M
Estimated cost at
completion: $0.7M

STATUS
Active

Upcoming milestone:
• Vendor initial code delivery 01/28/22
Comments: Development is under way. RR402-(HITT R3) Enhanced Intra-Day RUC has been
removed from the scope and will be worked separately in 2022.
The original estimate was done by SPP staff without vendor collaboration. An out-ofbudget request was submitted for $0.5M to cover the remaining work. The increase was
taken before the 11/16/21 MWG prior to commencing work in excess of original budget.
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6

WINTER WEATHER EVENT TIER 1
Strategic Plan Link: Reliability Assurance
OWNER

DESCRIPTION

Nickell

Implementation of SPP boardapproved recommendations to
improve SPP and member
entities’ ability to respond to the
impact of extreme weather
conditions. The Tier 1 (urgent)
initiatives encompass a broad
range of improvements, from
policy development to
governing document revisions
to implementation of new
and/or revised memberimpacting processes.

BUDGET
•
•

Approved: $0.0M
Estimated cost at
completion: TBD

STATUS
Active

Upcoming milestone:
• Phase 1 involves reviews of SPP recommendations with the newly formed Improved
Resource Availability Task Force (IRATF); Phase 1 completion dates vary by initiative
Comments: Phase 1 of this effort involves recommendation of solutions to the IRATF. Once
solutions have been agreed to, SPP will be able to evaluate costs to present to the SPP board.
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7

IDENTITY & ACCESS MANAGEMENT
Strategic Plan Link: Enhance and Optimize Interdependent Systems
OWNER

DESCRIPTION

Ellis

SPP Oversight approved additional scope
for a multi-phased approach to establish
and support an identity and access
management (IAM) program at SPP.
Requested funding (not approved): $1.9M.
Phase 1: AD assessment and remediation –
separate 2021 project
Phase 2: Identity IQ installation and
certification – 2021 start
Phases 3-5: Self-service password
management, user lifecycle management,
ticketing integration – 2022
Phase 6: Iterative integration of
applications into IIQ – start 2021 (Finance
Committee approved $390k out of budget)

BUDGET
•
•

•

Approved for
Phase 2:
$0.5M
Estimated cost
at completion
for Phase 2:
$0.6M (vendor
costs came in
higher than
anticipated)
Estimated cost
of all phases:
$1.9M

STATUS
On Hold

Upcoming milestones: Plan to restart in Q3 2022 pending on-boarding of SPP resources;
implementation plan and budget will be shifted out accordingly.
Comments: The 2021 project (Phase 2) will need to be completed before work can begin
on the 2022 project (Phases 3-5). Phase 6 will begin concurrent with the latter stages of
Phase 2. The Finance Committee approved $0.4M out-of-budget spend for 2021.
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8

Memorandum
To:

Finance Committee Members

From:

Tom Dunn

CC:

Kaye McCarty

Date:

January 6, 2022

Re:

2022 Meeting Schedule

Detailed below is a schedule for meetings of the Finance Committee for 2020 along with suggested agenda items
to be covered at the meetings.
Meeting Date

Time

Location

Agenda

Jan 13, 2022

8:00 – noon

Virtual

Liability Insurance, Actuary Assumptions

Apr 14, 2022

8:00 – noon

Virtual

2021 Financial Audit, Benefit Plan Funding

Jul 14, 2022

8:00 – noon

Rapid City

Mid-year Review, 2023 Operating Plan,

Oct 13, 2022

8:00 - noon

Video Conference

2023 Operating and Capital Budgets

Consider conducting the July 2022 meeting virtually and the October 2022 meeting face-to-face in Little Rock
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